
Regular Council Meeting 

August 25, 2025 

Executive Summary 

Item # Summary 

9A Description: Items for Action by Unanimous Consent 

Recommended Action: Motion to approve the consent agenda 
as presented. 

10A Description: Resolution 2025-23 – Water Tower Easement 
Agreement 

Recommended Action: Motion to adopt Resolution 2025-23 to 
authorize the purchase and sale agreement with AIO Operating 
for an Easement at the North Water Tower, 107-A West Blair in 
Hastings. 

10B Description: Fire Department Bathroom Remodel 

Recommended Action: Motion to approve All Call Restoration 
to remodel the Fire Department bathrooms for $24,432.57, with 
a $5,000 contingency, for a total approved amount of 
$29,432.57. 

10C Description: Replacement of #130 Dump Truck 

Recommended Action: Motion to approve the purchase of a 
2026 HV507 single axle cab and chassis from West Michigan 
International for $114,357.74, and to approve Truck and Trailer 
Specialties to upfit this truck for $107,235. 



 

Item # Summary 

10D Description: 2025 Street Sealcoating Bid Award 
 
Recommended Action: Motion to approve a purchase order for 
chip sealing contract and accept the proposal from Ace Asphalt 
& Paving for $132,734.25. 

10E Description: FY 25/26 Lead Line Replacement – Plumbing 
Contract 
 
Recommended Action: Motion to approve Fiscal Year 25 lead 
line replacement by Advantage Plumbing & Drain in the amount 
of $157,290. 

10F Description: Memorandum of Understand with Mercy 
Ambulance, Life EMS, and participating municipalities 
 
Recommended Action: Motion to authorize the Mayor to sign 
the Memorandum of Understanding for Ambulance Service 
contingent on final review and approval by the City Attorney. 
 

 



Council Agenda  Page 1 of 2 August 25, 2025 

City of Hastings 
COUNTY OF BARRY, STATE OF MICHIGAN 

  

 
City Council Agenda 

August 25, 2025 
 
 

1. Regular meeting called to order at 7:00 PM 

2. Roll call 

3. Pledge to the flag 

√        4. Approval of the agenda 

√        5. Approval of the minutes of the August 11, 2025, regular meeting 

√        6. Public Hearings: 

*                   A. Homeowners Rehabilitation CDBG Grant Application. 

7. Public Comment: 

8. Formal Recognitions and Presentations: 

A. Presentation from Dave Hatfield, Barry County Commissioner. 

√        9. Items for Action by Unanimous Consent:  

*                   A. Consider approval of the Mid-Michigan Lady Boltz to use the Fish Hatchery 
Softball field on Thursdays from 5:30 PM to 7:00 PM, August 28, 2025 
through October 30, 2025, and for a Hit-A-Thon event on Sunday, October 
26, 2025 from 12:00 PM to 5:00 PM. 

√        10. Items of Business: 

*                   A. Consider adoption of Resolution 2025-23 to authorize the purchase and sale 
agreement with AIO Operating for an Easement at the North Water Tower, 107-
A West Blair in Hastings. 

*                   B. Consider approval of the proposal by All Call Restoration to remodel the fire 
department bathrooms for $24,432.57, with a $5,000 contingency, for a total 
approved amount of $29,432.57. 

*                   C. Consider approval of the purchase of a 2026 HV507 single axle cab and chassis 
from West Michigan International for $114,357.74, and the upfitting from 
Truck and Trailer Specialties for $107,235. 

*                   D. Consider approval of a purchase order for Chip Sealing Contract and proposal 
from Ace Asphalt & Paving in the amount of $132,734.25 



Council Agenda  Page 2 of 2 August 25, 2025 

*                   E. Consider approval for Fiscal Year 25 lead line replacement by Advantage 
Plumbing & Drain in the amount of $157,290. 

*                   F. Consider authorization of the Mayor to sign the Memorandum of Understanding 
for Ambulance Service contingent on final review and approval by the City 
Attorney. 

11. Staff Presentations and Policy Discussions: 

A. Consider proceeding with developing an Assistant City Manager position and 
eliminating the office of the Director of Public Services. 

 
12. City Manager Report: 

*                   A. Police Chief Boulter Monthly Report 
*                   B. City Clerk/Treasurer Perin Monthly Financial Reports 
*                   C. Community Development Director King Monthly Report 
*                   D. Department of Public Services Street Superintendent Neil Report 

√        13. Reports and Communications: 

*                   A. Riverside Cemetery Preservation Advisory Board Minutes – August 13, 2025 
*                   B. Downtown Development Authority DRAFT Meeting Minutes – August 21, 2025 

14. Public Comment: 

15. Mayor and Council comment: 

√        16. Adjourn 

* Items with enclosures. 
√ Motion under agenda heading requires roll call vote. 
 
 

Guidelines for Public Comment 
 

Public Comment is welcomed and appreciated. Please follow these simple guidelines to ensure all have 
an opportunity to be heard. 
 
All comments and questions will be made through the chair. All comments will be made in a courteous 
and civil manner; profanity and personal attacks will not be tolerated. Please limit the length of your 
comments to 3 minutes. If you are a member of a group, please appoint a spokesperson to speak on 
behalf of the group (those speaking on behalf of a group may be provided additional time). Please 
state your name before offering comment. 



4591 
 

Council Minutes  August 11, 2025 

City of Hastings 
COUNTY OF BARRY, STATE OF MICHIGAN 

  

 
City Council Minutes 

August 11, 2025 
 
 

1. Regular meeting called to order at 7:00 PM 

2. Roll call 

Councilmembers Present: Barlow, Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie, Rocha, 
Stenzelbarton and Tossava 
 
City Staff and Appointees Present: Moyer-Cale, Boulter, Edelman, Jordan, King, Neil and 
Perin 

 
3. Pledge to the flag 

4. Approval of the agenda 

Motion by Rocha, with support from McLean, to approve the agenda as presented. 
All ayes. Motion carried. 

 
5. Approval of the minutes 

A. Approval of the minutes of the July 28, 2025, regular meeting 
 

Motion by Stenzelbarton, with support from Barlow, to approve the minutes of the 
July 28, 2025, regular meeting. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie, Rocha, Stenzelbarton 
and Tossava 
Nays: None 
Absent: None 
Motion carried. 

 
B. Approval of the minutes of the July 28, 2025, closed session meeting 

 
Motion by Devroy, with support from Stenzelbarton, to approve the minutes of the 
July 28, 2025, closed session meeting. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie, Rocha, Stenzelbarton 
and Tossava 
Nays: None 
Absent: None 
Motion carried. 

 



4592 
 

Council Minutes  August 11, 2025 

6. Public Hearings: (None) 

7. Public Comment: 

Comments from Gail Lowe, resident of Hastings, about speaking with Dan King with a 
suggestion for a Christmas Memorial Tree Decoration at the corner of Railroad and State 
St. Memorial ornaments would be hung on December 21, 2025, and removed by 
January 2, 2026. Gail volunteered for personal cleaning of the tree, and suggested such 
an event would make for positive publicity for the City of Hastings. 
 
Comments from Gary White, Barry County Resident, inquiring about the blockade setup 
in Downtown Shopping District at Barlow’s Florist, namely the purpose of the blockade, 
and the reason for pedestrian traffic redirection. 

 
8. Formal Recognitions and Presentations: 

A. Presentation from Dave Hatfield, Barry County Commissioner. 
 

9. Items for Action by Unanimous Consent: (None) 

 
10. Items of Business: 

A. Consider approval of the Hastings Summerfest Committee’s request to hold the 
annual Summerfest celebration on August 22, 23, and 24, 2025, at various locations 
as requested, and adopt Resolution 2025-22 to stay the necessary ordinances. 

 
Motion by McLean, with support from Devroy, to approve the Hastings Summerfest 
Committee’s request to hold the annual Summerfest celebration on August 22, 23, 
and 24, 2025, at various locations as requested, and adopt Resolution 2025-22 to 
stay the necessary ordinances. 
 
Comments from Pastor Bryce on Community Church worship service at Summerfest, 
and free cook-out event. Donations are welcome for the Food Pantry. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie, Rocha, Stenzelbarton 
and Tossava 
Nays: None 
Absent: None 
Motion carried. 

 
B. Consider approval of Dale Boulter as Officer Delegate and Dan King as Alternate 

Delegate to the Michigan Employees’ Retirement System (MERS) Annual 
Conference, October 16 to 17, 2025. 
 
Motion by Stenzelbarton, with support from Barlow, to approve Dale Boulter as 
Officer Delegate and Dan King as Alternate Delegate to the Michigan Employees’ 
Retirement System (MERS) Annual Conference, October 16 to 17, 2025. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie, Rocha, Stenzelbarton 
and Tossava 



4593 
 

Council Minutes  August 11, 2025 

Nays: None 
Absent: None 
Motion carried. 

 
C. Consider approval of, under direction of staff, the request from the Barry Roubaix to 

conduct the Fall Fondo Fundraising Cycling Event, with staging in Fish Hatchery 
Park on Sunday, October 12, 2025, from 9:00 AM to 6:00 PM. 

 
Motion by McLean, with support from Devroy, to approve, under direction of staff, 
the request from the Barry Roubaix to conduct the Fall Fondo Fundraising 
Cycling Event, with staging in Fish Hatchery Park on Sunday, October 12, 2025, 
from 9:00 AM to 6:00 PM. 
 
Discussion held. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie, Rocha, Stenzelbarton 
and Tossava 
Nays: None 
Absent: None 
Motion carried. 

 
D. Consider authorization of the purchase of eighty-seven (87) Dell monitors in the 

amount of $12,750.72. 
 

Motion by Barlow, with support from Brehm, to authorize the purchase of eighty-
seven (87) Dell monitors in the amount of $12,750.72. 
 
Discussion held, with request of amendment of Motion by Rocha. 
 
D1. Motion by Rocha, with support from Stenzelbarton, to approve purchase of 21” 
monitors instead of 24” monitors. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Rocha and Stenzelbarton 
Nays: Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie and Tossava 
Absent: None 
Motion not carried. 
 
D2. Motion by Barlow, with support from Brehm, to authorize the purchase of 
eighty-seven (87) Dell monitors in the amount of $12,750.72. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie and Tossava 
Nays: Rocha and Stenzelbarton 
Absent: None 
Motion carried. 

 
E. Consider approval of Murray’s Asphalt to do repairs on multiple major streets in the 

amount of $58,984. 
 

Motion by Brehm, with support from Devroy, to approve Murray’s Asphalt to do 
repairs on multiple major streets in the amount of $58,984. 



4594 
 

Council Minutes  August 11, 2025 

 
Discussion held. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie, Rocha, Stenzelbarton 
and Tossava 
Nays: None 
Absent: None 
Motion carried. 

 
F. Consider approval of Murray’s Asphalt for patching lead service line pavement cuts in 

the amount of $8,312. 
 

Motion by McLean, with support from Devroy, to approve Murray’s Asphalt for 
patching lead service line pavement cuts in the amount of $8,312. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie, Rocha, Stenzelbarton 
and Tossava 
Nays: None 
Absent: None 
Motion carried. 

 
G. Consider scheduling a public hearing for Monday, August 25, 2025, to allow 

residents to comment on proposed activities included with a Homeowners 
Rehabilitation grant application to the State of Michigan. 

 
Motion by Brehm, with support from McLean, to schedule a public hearing for 
Monday, August 25, 2025, to allow residents to comment on proposed activities 
included with a Homeowners Rehabilitation grant application to the State of 
Michigan. 
 
Discussion held, with comment from Tossava that public hearing would be scheduled 
for 7:00 PM regular council meeting time. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie, Rocha, Stenzelbarton 
and Tossava 
Nays: None 
Absent: None 
Motion carried. 

 
H. Consider approving, and authorizing Clerk and Mayor to sign, the Independent Public 

Officials Contract for Construction Code Administration and Enforcement with 
Professional Code Inspections (PCI). 

 
Motion by Stenzelbarton, with support from Brehm, to approve, and authorize Clerk 
and Mayor to sign, the Independent Public Officials Contract for Construction Code 
Administration and Enforcement with Professional Code Inspections (PCI). 
 
Discussion held, with Motion modified to change contract time from 24 months to 12 
months with one-year auto renewal. 
 



4595 
 

Council Minutes  August 11, 2025 

Ayes: Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie, Rocha, Stenzelbarton and 
Tossava 
Nays: Barlow 
Absent: None 
Motion carried. 

 
I. Consider approving of, under direction of staff, Barry County Great Start 

Collaborative to conduct a Stroll N Read Event in Tyden Park from 3:00 PM to 5:00 
PM on Thursday, August 14, 2025. 
 
Motion by Barlow, with support from Brehm, to approve Barry County Great Start 
Collaborative to conduct a Stroll N Read Event in Tyden Park from 3:00 PM to 5:00 
PM on Thursday, August 14, 2025. 
 
Discussion held. 
 
Ayes: Barlow, Bergeron, Brehm, Devroy, McLean, Resseguie, Rocha, Stenzelbarton 
and Tossava 
Nays: None 
Absent: None 
Motion carried. 

 
11. Staff Presentations and Policy Discussions: (None) 

12. City Manager Report: 

A. Fire Chief Jordan Monthly Report 
 
Comments about August 23, 2025 Pancake Breakfast. 
 

B. Library Director Edelman Monthly Report 
 

13. Reports and Communications: 

A. Hastings Public Library Board of Trustees DRAFT Minutes – August 4, 2025 
 

Motion by Stenzelbarton, with support from Devroy, to place on file item A. 
All ayes. Motion carried. 

 
14. Public Comment: 

Comments from Gary White, discussing the Health Department hiring a new officer and 
raising fees. Encouraged Council to be a voice to separate Barry County from Eaton 
County at the Health Department. Also reported on professional interactions with 
Professional Code Inspections. 

 
15. Mayor and Council comment: 

Comments from Tossava recognizing the proclamation of Dave McIntyre Day on August 
11, 2025, to pay honor to his retirement as a broadcaster at WBCH. 

   



4596 
 

Council Minutes  August 11, 2025 

  Added comments from Stenzelbarton, Barlow, Brehm, Devroy, Resseguie and Bergeron 
  congratulating Dave McIntyre on his retirement and recognition. 
 
  Comments from McLean, acknowledging Dave McIntrye, and clarified statements on PCI 
  and their customer service quality. 

 
16. Adjourn: 

Motion by McLean, with support from Stenzelbarton, to adjourn. 
All ayes. Motion carried. Meeting adjourned at 8:11 PM. 

 
Read and Approved: 
 
 
 
________________________     ___________________________ 
David J. Tossava, Mayor      Linda Perin, City Clerk 
 

 
 



Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

To: Mayor Tossava and City Council 

From: Dan King 

Subject: Public Hearing for Michigan Community Block Grant (CDBG) Funding 

Meeting Date: August 25, 2025 

Recommended Action:  

Conduct a public hearing to allow residents to comment on proposed activities included with a 

Homeowners Rehabilitation grant application to the State of Michigan. 

Background Information:  

The Community Development Department has administered the Michigan State Housing 

Development Authority (MSHDA) Neighborhood Enhancement Program (NEP) grant for the 

previous three (3) years. The NEP grant allowed income qualified homeowners in the city to 

apply for funding up to $9,999.00 for exterior home improvements such as windows, doors, 

siding, roofing, and driveway reconstruction. MSHDA discontinued the NEP program in 2024 

and replaced it with the MI Neighborhood program funded with CDBG dollars. 

Federal rules govern the use of CDBG awards that meet a Housing and Urban Development 

(HUD) National Objective as well as MSHDA’s policies regulating the application process and the 

on-going operation of its CDBG-funded programs from initial award to grant closeout. 

Citizen participation, including public hearings, are an integral part of the application process, 

hence the necessity to conduct an initial public hearing to solicit citizen comment. 

Financial Implications:  

Minimal – Publication of Public Hearing Notice 

Attachments: 

Public Hearing Notice 

6A



 

 
 

 
CITY OF HASTINGS 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
FOR MICHIGAN COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG)  

FUNDING FOR EXTERIOR HOME IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 
 
The City of Hastings will conduct a public hearing on Monday August 25, 2025, at 7:00PM 
in Council Chambers at City Hall at 201 East State Street, Hastings, MI 49058, for the 
purpose of affording citizens an opportunity to examine and submit comments on the 
proposed application for a CDBG grant. 
 
The City of Hastings proposes to use CDBG grant funds in the amount of $300,000.00 for 
exterior home improvement projects for owner-occupied single-family residences, along 
with other local and private activities and funding. All activities, upon completion, will 
benefit low-moderate income households. Zero persons will be displaced as a result of the 
proposed activities. 
   
Further information, including a copy of the City of Hastings’ Community Development 
Plan and CDBG application, are available for review. To inspect the documents, please 
contact Dan King, Community Development Director, at 269-945-2468,  
dking@hastingsmi.gov or review at City Hall, 201 E. State Street, Hastings, Michigan 
49058. Comments may be submitted in writing by 4:00 PM on Monday August 25, 2025, 
or made in person at the public hearing. 
  
The City of Hastings has participated in previous CDBG funding and information is 
available regarding the city’s performance on the past activities. 
 
The City will provide necessary aids and services to individuals with disabilities upon five 
days’ notice to the Clerk of the City of Hastings. Individuals requiring these services should 
contact the Office of the City Clerk at 269-945-2468, or via email at 
mpeacock@hastingsmi.gov. 
 
 
City of Hastings 
Linda Perin 
City Clerk 
 



Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

To: Hastings City Council 

From: Sarah Moyer-Cale, City Manager 

Subject: Field Reservation Request 

Meeting Date: August 25, 2025 

Recommended Action:  

Motion to approve the Mid Michigan Lady Boltz to use the Fish Hatchery Softball field on 

Thursdays from 5:30 pm – 7:00 pm from August 28th through October 30th, 2025, and for a Hit-

A-Thon event on Sunday, October 26th, from noon until 5:00 pm.

Background Information:  

This is a new 14U travel softball league that would like to use the field for regular practices. The 

primary contact is Amanda Roderiguez. The will hold practices on Thursday through the end of 

October. Our administrative assistant has confirmed that this does not conflict with any other 

scheduled events.  

As supplemental information, Vester is working on a park facility reservation process for your 

future approval to manage these kinds of reservations so that they do not always go to council.  

Financial Implications:  

None.  

Attachments: 

None.  

9A



Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

To: Hastings City Council 

From: Sarah Moyer-Cale, City Manager 

Subject: Resolution 2025-23 – Water Tower Easement Agreement 

Meeting Date: August 25, 2025 

Recommended Action:  

Motion to adopt Resolution 2025-23 to authorize the purchase and sale agreement with AIO 

Operating for an Easement at the North Water Tower, 107-A West Blair in Hastings.  

Background Information:  

This spring, the City Council discussed and ultimately authorized the execution of a letter of 

interest for an easement agreement for the water tower space that we currently lease to ATT. 

It is a 50-year easement in exchange for the lump sum of $625,000. Council discussed investing 

these funds as allowed by the city’s approved investment policy.   

I have been working with attorneys for the city to negotiate the agreement. Both parties are 

agreeable to the attached draft, with the exception that we have not yet received confirmation 

on their acceptance of the following addition:  

Grantee shall provide written notice to Grantor at least thirty days before Grantee or any 

Tenant commences work in the Easement Area that will include new or revised 

penetration of the exterior surface of the water tower, or penetration of any supporting 

infrastructure that is not already included in the Facilities. 

There may be final wording changes to this section, but nothing substantive to its meaning will 

be modified. Any final change will be reviewed and approved by an attorney representing the 

city.  

Financial Implications:  

Revenue of $625,000 lump sum, not budgeted. We will no longer receive the monthly lease 

amount from the tenant.  

10A



 
 

Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

Attachments: 

 Resolution 2025-23 

 Proposed Purchase and Sale Agreement 



Resolution 2025-23 Page 1 of 1 August 25, 2025
  

City Of Hastings 
COUNTY OF BARRY, STATE OF MICHIGAN 

_______ ___________________        ____ 
RESOLUTION 2025-23 

 
RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT WITH AIO 

OPERATING FOR AN EASEMENT AT THE NORTH WATER TOWER, 107-A WEST BLAIR 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Hastings executed a letter of interest to allow the buyer to acquire a 50-
year easement in exchange for $625,000.00; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City Manager and City Attorney have negotiated and thoroughly reviewed the 
terms of the purchase and sale agreement and corresponding easement, 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council authorizes and directs the City Clerk and 
the Mayor to execute and effect the agreement as presented as an appendix to this Resolution 
2025-23.  
 
A motion to adopt the foregoing resolution being offered by Member ___ , second by Member 
____: 
 
YEAS:    
NAYS:   
ABSENT:  
 
MOTION DECLARED ADOPTED 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was adopted at a duly held and attended regular 
meeting the 25th day of August 2025, by the City Council of the City of Hastings, by a vote of 
___ members voting in favor thereof, ___  member being absent, and ___  members voting 
against. 
           
        ______________________________ 
             Linda Perin 
             City Clerk 



 

 
314453507v6 

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT  

(NEW EASEMENT AND LEASE ASSIGNMENT) 

This Purchase and Sale Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into this __________________, 
2025 (the “Effective Date”), by and between THE CITY OF HASTINGS, a Michigan municipal 
corporation f/k/a Village of Hastings (“Grantor”), whose address is 201 East State Street, Hastings, 
Michigan 49058, and AIO OPERATING 2, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Grantee”), 
whose address is 7950 Legacy Drive, Suite 500, Plano, Texas 75024. All references hereafter to “Grantor” 
and “Grantee” shall include their respective heirs (if applicable), successors and assigns (Grantor and 
Grantee are sometimes referred to herein together as the “Parties” and each individually as a “Party”). The 
Parties hereto agree as follows: 

1. Grant of Easements; Assignment of Existing Agreements.  

(a) Grant of Easements. Grantor owns certain real property located at 107-A West Blair Street, 
Hastings, Michigan 49058 and as more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the 
“Property”). At the Closing (defined below), Grantor shall, pursuant to the Easement and Assignment 
Agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B (the “Easement and Assignment Agreement”), grant 
and convey to Grantee certain easements and other rights as set forth therein (the “Easements”). 

(b) Assignment of Existing Agreements. At the Closing, pursuant to the Easement and 
Assignment Agreement, and subject to the terms thereof, Grantor shall sell, assign, transfer, convey and 
deliver to Grantee all of Grantor’s right, title and interest in and to the “Existing Agreements” (as defined 
in the Easement and Assignment Agreement) including without limitation, the right to control, manage, and 
receive all revenue, rents, security deposits and other credit support, and other monies due to Grantor 
specified therein, and the benefit of all indemnification obligations thereunder in favor of Grantor, and 
Grantee shall assume all of Grantor’s obligations under the Existing Agreements arising from and after the 
date of Closing, except as set forth in the Easement and Assignment Agreement. The tenants under the 
Existing Agreements are referred to in this Agreement as the “Tenants.” 

2. Purchase Price; Prorations. The aggregate purchase price for the grant of the Easements and 
assignment of the Existing Agreements shall be an amount equal to $625,000.00 (the “Purchase Price”). 
Grantee shall pay the Purchase Price, net of all prorations or other adjustments pursuant to this Agreement 
and the Settlement Statement (as defined below), to Grantor at the Closing simultaneously with the delivery 
of the Easement and Assignment Agreement, by wire transfer of immediately available funds ($USD) to 
the account(s) designated in writing by Grantor to Grantee (via escrow). Grantor shall credit Grantee at 
Closing an amount equal to all security deposits, if any, actually held by Grantor in favor of the Tenants 
under the Existing Agreements.  

At Closing, base rent under the Existing Agreements for the pay period in which Closing occurs 
shall be prorated between Grantor and Grantee. Grantor will forward to Grantee any rent payments received 
from any Tenant applicable to any period subsequent to the Closing Date, and Grantee will forward to 
Grantor any rent payments received from any Tenant applicable to any period prior to the Closing Date, in 
either event within five (5) business days of receipt thereof (except as otherwise expressly allocated herein 
or on the Settlement Statement, as defined in Section 4 below).  

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, at Closing, Grantee shall receive a credit equal to the 
next two (2) months of base rent payments coming due under the Existing Agreements to allow for the time 
needed for the Tenants to recognize Grantee as the new payee under the Existing Agreements; provided, to 
the extent Grantee actually receives base rent with respect to such two (2) month period, Grantee shall 



 

2 
314453507v6 

promptly remit the same to Grantor. If Grantor, and not Grantee, receives additional base rent checks for 
the period following Closing other than with respect to the foregoing two (2) month period, Grantor shall 
promptly remit the same to Grantee in accordance with the preceding paragraph. 

3. Closing. The closing of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the “Closing”) shall take 
place simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement on the date of this Agreement (the “Closing 
Date”). The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be deemed to occur 
at 12:01 a.m. on the Closing Date. 

4. Closing Deliverables. At the Closing, (i) Grantor and Grantee shall execute and deliver to each 
other the Easement and Assignment Agreement; (ii) Grantor shall deliver to Grantee copies of all consents, 
approvals, affidavits, waivers and authorizations required or necessary for Grantor to enter into the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (iii) Grantor shall (where applicable) obtain and deliver to 
Grantee a subordination, non-disturbance and attornment agreement from each lender or lien holder 
identified by Grantee’s title insurance commitment as having a claim encumbering Grantor’s interests in 
the Property, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Grantee; (iv) Grantor and Grantee shall 
execute and deliver a settlement statement (the “Settlement Statement”) with all closing figures, including 
payment of the purchase price, any fees payable by either Party in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby, and prorated rent, utility, and other applicable payments in connection with the 
Existing Agreements; (v) Grantee shall pay to Grantor the Purchase Price as set forth in Section 2; and (vi) 
each of Grantor and Grantee shall execute and deliver any other required documents or instruments required 
to consummate the transactions contemplated hereunder or as required with respect to Grantee’s title 
insurance. 

5. Representations and Warranties of Grantor.  

(a) Authority and Ownership. Grantor represents and warrants to Grantee, as of the date 
hereof, that: (i) this Agreement and all the other documents executed by Grantor constitute the legal, valid 
and binding obligation of Grantor, enforceable against Grantor in accordance with their terms; (ii) Grantor 
is a validly existing entity (if applicable) and the signatory of this document is duly authorized to sign on 
its behalf; (iii) the execution, delivery and performance by Grantor of this Agreement does not and will not 
violate any agreement to which Grantor is a party, including mortgages and deeds of trust, or violate or 
conflict with any law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or decree to which Grantor is subject; (iv) Grantor 
has legally sufficient right, power, and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Easement and 
Assignment Agreement and to grant the Easements and assign the Existing Agreements to Grantee, and 
Grantor has not previously deeded, granted, assigned, mortgaged, pledged, hypothecated, alienated or 
otherwise transferred any of its right, title and interest in and to the Easements (or any portion thereof) or 
in and to the Existing Agreements; (v) except for the Existing Agreements, Grantor has not executed or 
otherwise entered into any leases, tenancies, licenses, or concession agreements, occupancy agreements, or 
other agreements with respect to rights that would adversely affect Grantee’s or the Tenants’ possession, 
or occupancy of any portion of the Easements or use of the Property pursuant to this Agreement or the 
Easement and Assignment Agreement; and (vi) Grantor and its managers, officers, and elected officials are 
in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations relating to money laundering, foreign asset control, 
and terrorism, and Grantor is not a person or entity that is identified as a Specially-Designated National or 
Blocked Person on the then-most current list published by OFAC. 

(b) Property and Existing Agreements. Grantor represents and warrants to Grantee, as of the 
date hereof, that: (i) Grantor has not breached or defaulted on any of Grantor’s obligations under the 
Existing Agreements that remains uncured, and, to Grantor’s knowledge, the Tenants have not breached or 
defaulted on any of their obligations under the Existing Agreements that remains uncured; (ii) at no time 
prior to the date hereof has Grantor delivered or received written notice of a breach or default by either 



 

3 
314453507v6 

Grantor or any Tenant under the Existing Agreements; (iii) no Tenant, nor its agents or contractors, has 
notified Grantor of any intention or desire to terminate any Existing Agreement or surrender or abandon 
any Existing Agreement, and further, no Tenant under any of the Existing Agreements has requested a 
reduction in the rental amount or other payments payable pursuant to the Existing Agreements; (iv) the 
Existing Agreements are presently in full force and effect and unmodified, and Grantee has been provided 
with full and complete copies thereof; (v) to Grantor’s knowledge, any improvements to be made by the 
Tenants have been completed and any and all other special conditions to be performed by the Tenants 
pursuant to the Existing Agreements have been performed and satisfied; (vi) the Tenants’ obligations to 
pay rent have commenced in full and the Tenants are currently paying the scheduled rent set forth in the 
Existing Agreements; (vii) except as set forth in the Existing Agreements, no rents have been paid more 
than thirty (30) days in advance of their due dates; (viii) to Grantor’s knowledge, no Tenant has any claim 
of setoff under an Existing Agreement or otherwise against rents or other charges due or to become due 
thereunder; (ix) to Grantor’s knowledge, there are no required consents or approval, rights of first offer or 
refusal, or preferential purchase rights under the Existing Agreements or otherwise that would apply to the 
transactions contemplated herein other than those that have been waived in accordance with the terms of 
the Existing Agreements or the applicable documents or agreements in which such rights are provided; (x) 
there are no violations of any applicable laws, regulations, or codes with respect to the Property, and neither 
Grantor nor the Property is in breach or default with respect to any matter of record affecting the Property 
that, in either case, would adversely affect the use of the Property for the purposes set forth in this 
Agreement, the Easement and Assignment Agreement, or the Existing Agreements; (xi) to Grantor’s 
knowledge, there is no circumstance at the Property that would adversely affect the use thereof for the 
purposes set forth in this Agreement, the Easement and Assignment Agreement, or the Existing 
Agreements; and (xii) there is no pending or, to Grantor’s knowledge, threatened action, judgment, order 
decree, or proceeding (including any bankruptcy, insolvency, eminent domain, zoning, or other land use 
regulation actions) that, if determined against Grantor or the Property, would adversely affect Grantor’s 
ability to grant the Easements or enter into this Agreement or the Easement and Assignment Agreement or 
to perform its obligations hereunder or thereunder, or limit Grantee’s ability to use the Easements as 
contemplated herein or therein, or that would affect the use of the premises leased or licensed under the 
Existing Agreements or the validity or continuance of the Existing Agreements. 

(c) AS IS. Except as set forth herein or in the Easement and Assignment Agreement, Grantor 
makes no warranties to Grantee regarding the status of the Property or the nature or status of the Existing 
Agreements, and Grantor hereby disclaims any verbal or written warranties or representations made by 
Grantor or any of its officers, agents, or representatives during the course of the negotiation of this 
Agreement or any other discussions with Grantee.  Grantee hereby acknowledges and accepts that Grantee 
has been afforded full and complete opportunity to inspect the Property and review the Existing 
Agreements, and that in making its decision to enter into this Agreement and proceed to Closing, Grantee 
is relying solely on its own investigations and not on any representations made by Grantor or any of its 
officers, agents or representatives (except as set forth herein or in the Easement and Assignment 
Agreement).  Except as set forth herein or in the Easement and Assignment Agreement, (i) Grantee hereby 
acknowledges that if and when the Closing occurs, Grantee shall accept the Existing Agreements and the 
Easements in their “as-is, where-is, with all faults” condition, and (ii) Grantee hereby waives and forever 
releases any and all claims against Grantor related to the condition of the Property or the Existing 
Agreements as of the date of Closing.  

6. Representations and Warranties of Grantee. Grantee represents and warrants to Grantor, as of 
the date hereof, that: (i) this Agreement and all the other documents executed by Grantee constitute the 
legal, valid and binding obligation of Grantee, enforceable against Grantee in accordance with their terms; 
(ii) Grantee is a validly existing entity and the signatory of this document is duly authorized to sign on its 
behalf; and (iii) the execution, delivery and performance by Grantee of this Agreement does not and will 
not violate or conflict with any provision of Grantee’s organizational documents.  



 

4 
314453507v6 

7. Indemnification. Grantee and (to the extent not inconsistent with State law) Grantor shall each 
indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the other against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, costs, 
expenses, penalties, damages and losses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, resulting 
from any misrepresentation or breach of warranty, representation or covenant made by such party in this 
Agreement or in any document, certificate or exhibit given or delivered to the other pursuant to or in 
connection with this Agreement. 

8. Notices. All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers and other communications 
hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given (a) when delivered by hand (with 
written confirmation of receipt); (b) when received by the addressee if sent by a nationally recognized 
overnight courier (receipt requested); (c) on the date sent by e-mail (with confirmation of transmission) if 
sent during normal business hours of the recipient, and on the next business day if sent after normal business 
hours of the recipient; or (d) on the third day after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, return 
receipt requested, postage prepaid. Such communications must be sent to Grantor and to Grantee at the 
addresses provided for above (or at such other address for a Party as shall be specified in a notice given in 
accordance with this Section). 

9. Miscellaneous.  

(a) Closing Costs. The following costs shall be split equally among Grantor and Grantee: all 
fees of the escrow agent (if any), including any document preparation or escrow fees. Each Party shall be 
responsible for the entirety of any fees with respect to any brokers, finders or other agents claiming by, 
through or under such Party and (to the extent not inconsistent with State law) shall indemnify, defend, and 
hold harmless the other Party from any such fees or claims therefor. Each Party shall also be responsible 
for any and all costs incurred by such Party in connection with the preparation, review and negotiation of 
this Agreement and any other documents required in connection herewith. Grantee shall be responsible for 
any costs expended to procure a title report, survey, environmental report, title insurance policy and for the 
recording fees associated with recording the Easement and Assignment Agreement. Grantor shall be 
responsible for all recording fees associated with releasing or subordinating any liens on the Property that 
are required by Grantee’s title insurance company to be addressed as a condition of Closing. Grantor shall 
be responsible to pay any sales, use, transfer, stamp or similar taxes that are incurred or imposed with 
respect to the transactions described in this Agreement. Grantor is exempt from withholding of state and 
federal income taxes, and neither Grantee nor the title company shall withhold any proceeds from the 
closing from disbursement to Grantor. To the extent not inconsistent with State law, Grantor shall 
indemnify, defend and hold Grantee harmless from and against any claims, suits, demands, actions, losses, 
costs, penalties, expenses, or fees related to any rent tax, bulk sales tax, transaction privilege tax, or similar 
tax that is applicable to the period prior to Closing or to the Closing of the transactions contemplated 
hereunder. 

(b) Recording. Grantor and Grantee shall, at Closing, acknowledge, execute and record the 
Easement and Assignment Agreement. Grantee shall be responsible to pay recording fees. Grantee shall 
ensure that Grantor receives an electronic PDF copy of the fully-recorded Easement and Assignment 
Agreement within ten (10) days of recording.  

(c) Survival. All representations, warranties, covenants, agreements, and indemnities 
contained herein shall survive the Closing and the execution and delivery of the Easement and Assignment 
Agreement. 

(d) Amendments, Etc. This Agreement may only be amended, modified or supplemented by 
an agreement in writing signed by each Party. No act or failure to act shall be deemed to constitute an 
amendment or modification or termination hereof. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each 



 

5 
314453507v6 

of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same 
agreement. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, e-mail or other means of electronic 
transmission or an electronically signed copy of this Agreement shall in each case be deemed to have the 
same legal effect as delivery of an original signed copy of this Agreement. 

(e) Default. It shall be an “Event of Default” if either Grantor or Grantee fails to observe or 
perform any of the terms, conditions or its respective obligations set forth in this Agreement. Upon receiving 
written notice of such a default or breach of this Agreement, the defaulting Party shall have thirty (30) days 
to cure such default, but only if such default is of such a nature as is capable of being cured. If the required 
cure of the noticed default cannot reasonably be completed by the defaulting Party within such 30-day 
period, such Party’s failure to perform shall not constitute an Event of Default so long as such Party 
undertakes to cure the failure promptly and diligently and continuously pursues the cure thereof to 
completion. In the event that the defaulting Party fails to cure such default within the cure period, the non-
defaulting Party shall be entitled to exercise any rights permitted by applicable law. The foregoing 
notwithstanding, all damages for which Grantor may be compensated shall be limited to the actual damages 
of Grantor and shall, in the aggregate, in no event exceed the Purchase Price. 

(f) Specific Performance. The Parties understand and agree that the undertakings hereunder 
are unique and for that reason, among others, Grantee would be irreparably damaged in the event that any 
provision of this Agreement is not performed in accordance with the terms hereof. Accordingly, in the event 
of any breach or default in or of this Agreement, Grantee shall have, in addition and without prejudice to 
any right or remedy available at law or in equity, the right to demand and have specific performance of this 
Agreement. 

(g) Governing Law; Waiver, Arbitration, Severability. This Agreement shall be governed by 
and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Michigan without giving effect to any 
choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State or Commonwealth in which the Property is 
located or any other jurisdiction). EACH PARTY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY 
WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY 
HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL ACTION, PROCEEDING, CAUSE OF ACTION, OR 
COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING ANY 
EXHIBITS ATTACHED TO THIS AGREEMENT, OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED 
HEREBY. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (I) NO REPRESENTATIVE 
OF THE OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT THE OTHER 
PARTY WOULD NOT SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER IN THE EVENT OF A 
LEGAL ACTION, (II) IT HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (III) IT 
MAKES THIS WAIVER KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY, AND (IV) IT HAS DECIDED TO 
ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT IN CONSIDERATION OF, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE 
MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATION OF THIS SECTION. Any dispute, controversy, or claim 
arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be finally settled by arbitration 
administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Commercial Arbitration rules, 
and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction 
thereof. If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, 
such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement 
or invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any other jurisdiction. 

(h) Attorneys’ Fees. If any action is brought by either Party against the other in connection 
with or arising out of this Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover from the other Party 
its reasonable fees and costs, whether through arbitration or a court of competent jurisdiction. 



 

6 
314453507v6 

(i) Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the documents to be delivered hereunder constitute 
the sole and entire agreement of the Parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter contained 
herein, and supersede all prior and contemporaneous understandings and agreements, both written and oral, 
with respect to such subject matter. For the avoidance of doubt, the Exhibits attached hereto and referred to 
herein are hereby incorporated herein and made a part of this Agreement for all purposes as if fully set forth 
herein. 

(j) Further Assurances. Following the Closing, Grantor agrees to execute such further 
instruments and to take such further actions, at Grantee’s sole cost and expense, as may be reasonably 
necessary for the full and complete enjoyment of the rights herein granted and likewise agrees that Grantee 
herein shall have the right at any time to redeem for said Grantor by payment of any mortgage, taxes or 
liens on the above described land or lands hereinafter discovered that are not specifically described herein, 
upon default in payment by Grantor, and be subrogated to the rights of the holder thereof. 

(k) Disclaimer of Reliance. Each Party acknowledges that, except as expressly set out in this 
Agreement, such Party has no expectation of, and hereby expressly waives and disclaims, disclosure by the 
other Party of any additional facts or circumstances that may have caused, supported or otherwise 
influenced such other Party to enter into this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated 
hereunder, including, without limitation, the fact that the other Party may possess or have otherwise 
acquired or developed non-public or proprietary information that may affect the value of the Easements or 
the Existing Agreements presently or in the future. Each Party hereby expressly waives, releases and forever 
discharges the other Party from any and all claims, demands, proceedings, causes of action, orders, 
obligations, contracts, agreements and liabilities whatsoever, whether known or unknown, both at law and 
in equity, arising out of or in connection with any of the foregoing. Grantor and Grantee each acknowledge 
that: (i) they have been represented by independent counsel in connection with this Agreement; (ii) they 
have executed this Agreement with the advice of such counsel; and (iii) this Agreement is the result of 
negotiations between the parties hereto and the advice and assistance of their respective counsel. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]



 

Signature Page to Purchase and Sale Agreement  
314453507v6 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date 
first written above by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized. 

GRANTOR: 

THE CITY OF HASTINGS,   
a Michigan municipal corporation 
 
 
 
By:       
Name:      
Title:       
 
 
 
GRANTEE: 
 
AIO OPERATING 2, LLC,  
a Delaware limited liability company 
 
 
 
By:       
Name:      
Title:       
 



 

A-1 
314453507v6 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 
 

[TO BE CONFIRMED UPON RECEIPT OF TITLE COMMITMENT/SURVEY] 
 
LOTS 1-2 BLK 2, R.G. GRANTS ADD. (700 JEFFERSON ST.) W 1/2 LOTS 3-4 BLK 2 R.G. 
GRANTS ADD (100 BLAIR ST.) PART OF THE SW 1/4 OF SECTION 8, T2N, R8W, VILLAGE OF 
HASTINGS, BARRY COUNTY, MICHIGAN. 



 

B-1 
314453507v6 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FORM OF EASEMENT AND ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT 
 

**NOT FOR EXECUTION** 
 

PREPARED BY ) 
AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL  ) 
TO: ) 
 ) 
AIO OPERATING 2, LLC ) 
7950 Legacy Dr., Suite 500 ) 
Plano, Texas 75024 ) 
 ) 
 ) 
 ) 
 ) 
 ) 
  

 
Space above this line for Recorder’s Use 
 

EASEMENT AND ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT 
 

STATE OF: MICHIGAN 
COUNTY OF: BARRY 
  
Effective Date: ___________________, 2025 
  
GRANTEE: AIO Operating 2, LLC 
  
GRANTOR: The City of Hastings 

  
Legal Description: Attached as Exhibit A 
  

  



 

B-2 
314453507v6 

 
EASEMENT AND ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT 

 
This Easement and Assignment Agreement (this “Agreement”) dated as of the Effective Date on 

the cover page hereof, is by and between THE CITY OF HASTINGS, a Michigan municipal corporation 
f/k/a Village of Hastings (“Grantor”), whose address is 201 East State Street, Hastings, Michigan 49058 
and AIO OPERATING 2, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Grantee”), whose address is 7950 
Legacy Dr., Suite 500, Plano, Texas 75024. All references hereafter to “Grantor” and “Grantee” shall 
include their respective heirs (if applicable), successors and assigns (Grantor and Grantee are sometimes 
collectively referred to herein as the “Parties” and individually as a “Party”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Grantor owns certain real property located at 107-A West Blair Street, Hastings, 
Michigan 49058 and as more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”);  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of the 
Effective Date (as it may be amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time, the “Purchase 
Agreement”), Grantor intends to grant to Grantee an exclusive Primary Easement (as defined herein) in, 
to, under and over certain portions of the Property, as described in Exhibit B attached hereto (the “Primary 
Easement Area”), and a non-exclusive Access Easement (as defined herein) in, to, under and over certain 
portions of the Property, as described in Exhibit C attached hereto (the “Access Easement Area”); and 

WHEREAS, also pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, Grantor intends to sell, assign, 
set over, convey and transfer all of Grantor’s right, title and interest in and to the agreement or agreements 
set forth on Exhibit D attached hereto (collectively, whether one or more, the “Existing Agreements”). 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Grantor and Grantee agree to 
the following: 

 
1. Recitals. Grantor and Grantee acknowledge and agree that the above recitals are true and correct 
as of the date hereof and are hereby incorporated herein as though set forth in full. 

2. Grant of Easements. In consideration of the one-time Purchase Price paid by Grantee to Grantor 
pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, which compensation is incorporated herein by reference, Grantor 
hereby grants, bargains, sells, transfers and conveys to Grantee and its successors and assigns the following: 

(a) Primary Easement. An exclusive easement (the “Primary Easement”) in, to, under and 
over (including air rights) the Primary Easement Area for the purposes of: (i) telecommunications-related 
activities, as well as for the transmission and reception of any and all wireless communications signals 
related to the telecommunications business, the construction, maintenance, repair, replacement, 
improvement, operation, and removal of towers, antennas, buildings, fences, gates, generators and related 
facilities and improvements used in the telecommunications business (collectively, the “Facilities” or 
singularly, a “Facility”), (ii) leasing space to (A) the tenants or licensees under the Existing Agreements 
(the “Existing Tenants”) for the uses set forth therein or otherwise permitted hereunder, and (B) any future 
tenants or licensees with respect to the Primary Easement Area (the “Future Tenants”; collectively with 
the Existing Tenants, the “Tenants”) for the uses permitted hereunder, and (iii) all rights that are related or 
ancillary to, or that are otherwise reasonably necessary or beneficial in order to exercise, implement, or 
enjoy, any of the foregoing rights and/or activities; and  



 

B-3 
314453507v6 

(b) Access and Utility Easement. A non-exclusive easement for ingress, egress, maintenance 
and utility service for and to the Primary Easement Area, which easement is more particularly described in 
Exhibit C attached hereto (the “Access Easement”), in, to, under and over the Access Easement Area.  

The Primary Easement and the Access Easement are collectively referred to herein as the 
“Easements.” For the avoidance of doubt, the Primary Easement Area shall include the surface of the 
ground in the Easement Area and the exterior of any improvements owned by Grantor as of the date hereof 
and located in or on the Easements, provided, however, the ownership of such improvements shall not pass 
to Grantee but shall be retained by Grantor. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Facilities 
shall remain the property of Grantee and/or the Tenants, as applicable, and Grantor shall possess no right, 
title, or interest therein.  Grantee acknowledges that the primary purpose of Grantor’s improvements located 
within the Easement Area is to serve as a water storage and supply tower in connection with Grantor’s 
municipal water system.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, subject to the rights 
of Tenants under the Existing Agreements, Grantee shall not permit any of the Facilities, or any activities 
in the Easement Areas performed or authorized by or on behalf of Grantee, to interfere with the normal 
operations of Grantor’s municipal water system (to the extent such interference is reasonably foreseeable 
and not reasonably necessary for the primary purpose of the Easements – i.e., telecommunications and 
wireless communications purposes). Grantee shall provide written notice to Grantor at least thirty days 
before Grantee or any Tenant commences work in the Easement Area that will include new or revised 
penetration of the exterior surface of the water tower, or penetration of any supporting infrastructure that is 
not already included in the Facilities. 

Additionally, Grantor acknowledges and agrees that Grantee may survey the Primary Easement 
Area, at Grantee’s expense, and shall provide Grantor with a copy of such survey for Grantor’s review and 
approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned. Upon receipt of 
Grantor’s approval, Grantee may amend, append, revise or replace Exhibit B to include the approved survey 
of the Primary Easement Area in Exhibit B. Also, to the extent any Tenant under an Existing Agreement 
has the right to require the lessor thereunder to expand its leased premises or grant additional easements or 
rights to such Tenant, Grantee shall have the right to expand the Easements hereunder as needed to include 
such expanded leased premises or additional easements or rights (and the parties hereto shall, upon request 
from Grantee, enter into an amendment to this Agreement evidencing the same, which Grantee shall be 
entitled to record). 

To the extent any portion of the Primary Easement Area constitutes personal property, Grantor 
hereby grants and conveys to Grantee an irrevocable license with respect to such portion of the Primary 
Easement Area, which license shall be on and subject to the same terms as the Primary Easement and which 
shall be considered part of the Primary Easement and Primary Easement Area for all purposes hereunder. 

3. Assignment of Existing Agreements; Future Agreements.  

(a) Assignment of Existing Agreements. Grantor hereby sells, assigns, transfers, conveys and 
delivers to Grantee all of Grantor’s right, title and interest in and to the Existing Agreements (including 
without limitation, the right to control, manage, and receive all revenue, rents, security deposits and other 
credit support, and other monies due Grantor specified therein, and the benefit of all indemnification 
obligations thereunder in favor of Grantor), and Grantee shall assume all of Grantor’s obligations under the 
Existing Agreements arising from and after the Effective Date, subject to the terms of Section 3(b) below. 

(b) Retained Obligations. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Grantor shall retain 
and continue to faithfully perform and discharge any and all of the obligations of lessor or licensor under 
the Existing Agreements relating to the ownership, operation and use of the Property, including, without 
limitation, obligations related to maintenance, taxes, insurance, interference, and access (the “Retained 



 

B-4 
314453507v6 

Obligations”), and Grantee shall have the right to enforce the same against Grantor as direct covenants 
hereunder. To the extent any Existing Agreement expressly requires Grantee to assume any or all of the 
Retained Obligations as a successor lessor or licensor, Grantor and Grantee shall be jointly and severally 
liable for the faithful performance and discharge of the Retained Obligations, and Grantor shall reimburse 
Grantee for any losses, expenses, or liabilities incurred in connection therewith. Grantor shall retain the 
right to enter the Primary Easement Area as reasonably necessary to comply with its Retained Obligations. 
Additionally, if any Tenant pays to Grantor any separate fees specifically for the purpose of utility service 
or taxes, such fees shall continue to be paid by such Tenant to Grantor, although Grantee may collect and 
distribute the same to Grantor. 

(c) Future Agreements. Subject to the limitations contained herein, it is the express intent of 
the Parties that Grantee shall have the right to enter into (i) amendments, modifications, renewals, and 
extensions of the Existing Agreements with the Tenants thereunder (each, an “Existing Agreement 
Modification”), and (ii) new leases, licenses, and other agreements of occupancy or use with Future 
Tenants (each, a “Future Agreement”). Upon the expiration of the Term or any earlier termination hereof, 
Grantee’s interest in any Existing Agreements and Future Agreements that have not expired shall be 
assigned to and assumed by Grantor for the remainder of the term thereof, and the Property and Grantor 
will be bound by such agreements. Grantor acknowledges that all such agreements entered into by Grantee 
shall survive the termination of this Agreement for any reason. 

4. Term. Commencing on the Effective Date, the term of this Agreement and the Easements shall be 
fifty (50) years (the “Term”); provided, the Term shall automatically be extended to account for any post-
termination decommissioning or removal periods set forth in the Existing Agreements as of the Effective 
Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event Grantee and all of the Tenants voluntarily cease to use 
the Easements for a period of more than five (5) years (the parties acknowledging that casualty, 
condemnation or Act of God is not voluntary), the Easements shall be deemed surrendered. Grantee may 
surrender the Easements for any reason or at any time by giving thirty (30) days’ notice to Grantor. Upon 
the expiration of the Term (if applicable) or any earlier surrender of the Easements, this Agreement shall 
be terminated, and Grantee and Grantor shall execute and record such documents reasonably required to 
terminate the Easements (including an assignment of Grantee’s interest in any Existing Agreements or 
Future Agreements then in effect with respect to the Property, and an assumption thereof by Grantor for the 
remainder of the term thereof, which Grantor hereby approves). Grantor shall be responsible for any transfer 
tax payable in connection with the expiration or any earlier termination of the Easements. This Agreement 
may not be terminated by Grantor, and Grantor shall be limited to its other rights expressly set forth herein. 

5. Covenants of Grantor. Grantor covenants and agrees that (A) Grantor shall not allow or permit a 
breach or default to occur under the Existing Agreements, and Grantor shall comply with all applicable 
laws, regulations and codes which may affect the Property; (B) Grantor shall not settle or compromise any 
insurance claim or condemnation award relating to the Easements without Grantee’s prior written approval, 
which shall not be unreasonably withheld (acknowledging that Grantee’s interest in the Easements may be 
the basis for part of such claim or award or a separate claim or award), and in the event of any condemnation 
of the Property, in whole or in part, Grantee shall be entitled to file any claims with or against the 
condemning authority for, and to receive, the value of the portion of the Property so taken upon which the 
Easements are located, business dislocation expenses, and any other award or compensation to which 
Grantee may be legally entitled or that Grantee is required to pay to Tenants (and Grantor hereby assigns 
to Grantee any such claims and agrees that any claims made by Grantor will not reduce the claims made by 
Grantee); (C) Grantor shall not use nor permit its affiliates, licensees, invitees or agents to use any portion 
of the Property, either directly, indirectly or by action or inaction, in a manner which in any way could 
result in a default of the Existing Agreements (or any Future Agreements substantially similar thereto) or 
otherwise interfere with the operations of Grantee; (D) if Grantor receives a notice of default or breach of 
its obligations to any lender with a superior interest in the Property and/or any rights relating to the Property 



 

B-5 
314453507v6 

to those of Grantee, Grantor shall cure the default within the earlier of (i) 30 days, or (ii) the cure period 
under the terms of any applicable loan document between Grantor and such lender or in favor of such 
lender; (E) Grantor shall not, without the prior written consent of Grantee, amend or modify the Existing 
Agreements in any respect or exercise any rights granted by Grantor to Grantee under this Agreement, 
including, without limitation, any and all rights and remedies of Grantor under the Existing Agreements; 
(F) Grantor shall not enter into any agreement with any other party waiving, releasing or encumbering the 
Existing Agreements or the right to collect rents thereunder; (G) Grantor and its affiliates shall not sell, 
transfer, grant, convey, lease, and/or license by deed, easement, lease, license or other legal instrument, an 
interest in and to or the right to use or occupy any portion of the Property to any person or entity directly 
engaged in the business of owning, acquiring, operating, managing, investing in or leasing services or 
infrastructure in the telecommunications or wireless communications industry, in each case without the 
prior written consent of Grantee; (H) Grantor shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that any 
utilities serving the Primary Easement Area and the Access Easement Area continue to be supplied to the 
Primary Easement Area and the Access Easement Area in sufficient capacities; (I) Grantor shall pay all 
taxes and assessments against the Property before delinquency, including, without limitation, all present 
and future real property taxes, transfer taxes, penalties, interest, roll-back or additional taxes, sales and use 
taxes, and all other fees and assessments, regardless of the taxing method, except to the extent the obligation 
to pay such taxes or assessments is the responsibility of the Tenants (Grantor acknowledging that a portion 
of the consideration paid for this Agreement was in exchange for the continuing obligation to pay such 
taxes and assessments); (J) Grantor shall reasonably cooperate with the installation of future Facilities 
within the Primary Easement Area and the Access Easement Area; (K) to the extent access to the Primary 
Easement Area is restricted in any way (e.g., by locked door, gate or other barrier), Grantor shall provide 
Grantee and the Tenants reasonable means of entry at all times (e.g., by key, code, or keycard); (L) Grantor 
shall insure (with commercially reasonable insurance, which shall at least be equal to what is currently 
required under the Existing Agreements) and maintain the Primary Easement Area, the Access Easement 
Area, and the structural portions of the Property (including any improvements or structures within or on the 
Primary Easement Area), including any vegetation thereon, in good working condition so as not to interfere 
with or diminish the rights granted to Grantee hereunder (except to the extent such maintenance is the 
responsibility of the Tenants); (M) Grantor shall not enter into any agreement or instrument that would 
encumber the Property or bind Grantee or the Property or take any action that would, in either case, interfere 
with Grantee’s or the Tenant’s exercise of their respective rights under this Agreement or use of the Property 
pursuant hereto; and (N) Grantor shall promptly (i) inform Grantee in writing of any breaches, defaults, 
disagreements, disputes, threatened litigation, or pending litigation between Grantor and any other person 
relating to the Property that could have an adverse effect on the Easements or Grantee’s or the Tenants’ use 
thereof, (ii) provide Grantee copies of any notices, correspondence or other written or digital 
communication received by Grantor in connection with any such breach, default, disagreement, dispute, 
threatened litigation, or pending litigation, and (iii) cooperate with Grantee to vigorously defend against 
any such breach, default, disagreement, dispute, threatened litigation, or pending litigation.  

6. Successors and Assigns; Covenants Running with the Land. This Agreement shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and the respective successors and assigns of the Parties 
to this Agreement. The Parties agree (A) that the Easements and the other terms and provisions of this 
Agreement “touch and concern the land” with respect to the Property, (B) that the grant of the Easements 
satisfies privity as may be required by applicable law, and (C) that the Easements and the other terms and 
provisions of this Agreement shall constitute “covenants running with the land” and “equitable servitudes” 
with respect to the Property. Without limiting the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge and agree that title to 
the Property is encumbered by and is expressly subject to all rights, titles, interests, liabilities and 
obligations under this Agreement (including without limitation, with respect to the Easements). Grantee has 
the unrestricted right to assign, transfer, or convey (whether in whole or in part), and to mortgage or grant 
a security interest in, all of Grantee’s interest in and to this Agreement, the Easements, the Existing 
Agreements, and any future agreements. Upon any such assignment, provided that any assignee or 



 

B-6 
314453507v6 

transferee of Grantee assumes in writing all of the obligations of Grantee under this Agreement accruing 
from and after the effective date of such assignment, Grantee shall be released from and relieved of any all 
obligations under this Agreement accruing from and after the effective date of such assignment. 
Additionally, without notice to or consent from Grantor, Grantee may, without limiting the foregoing, 
assign this Agreement, the Easements, the Existing Agreements, and any future agreements to assignees, 
mortgagees, or holders of security interests, including their successors and assigns (each, a “Secured Party” 
or, collectively, the “Secured Parties”). Grantor agrees to notify Grantee and the Secured Parties (provided 
Grantee or such Secured Parties have given Grantor notice and contact information of Secured Parties) 
simultaneously of any default by Grantee hereunder and give Secured Parties the same right to cure any 
default. If a termination, disaffirmation, or rejection of this Agreement shall occur, pursuant to any laws 
(including any bankruptcy or insolvency laws), Grantor will notify the Secured Parties promptly and 
Grantor shall enter into a new easement agreement with any such Secured Party upon the same terms of 
this Agreement, without requiring the payment of any additional fees. If any Secured Party shall succeed to 
Grantee’s interest under this Agreement, such Secured Party shall have no obligation to cure and no liability 
for any defaults of Grantee accruing prior to the date that such Secured Party succeeds to such interest. 
Grantor will enter into modifications of this Agreement reasonably requested by any Secured Party. Grantor 
hereby irrevocably and forever waives, releases, and relinquishes any contractual, constitutional, or 
statutory liens or any other such liens Grantor has or may have on (i) the Facilities or any other fixture or 
appurtenance or other property of any Tenant under the Existing Agreements or any future agreement, or 
of Grantee, situated or located on the Property, and/or (ii) the estates and interests of the Tenants under the 
Existing Agreements or any future agreement and/or of Grantee under this Agreement, and while the 
foregoing waiver shall expressly be deemed to be self-operative without the need of any further action on 
the part of any party, Grantor shall execute such further written evidence of such waiver as requested by 
any such person, from time to time. 

7. Non-Disturbance. Grantor will not improve or alter the Property or grant, convey, transfer or 
otherwise enter into any other easement, ground lease, lease, license, or similar agreement or contract with 
respect to any portion of the Property if the same would interfere with, disturb, limit, or impair Grantee’s 
or any Tenant’s permitted use of the Easements, it being acknowledged by Grantor that the Easements are 
used by the Tenants for the purposes set forth herein.  

Grantor and Grantee recognize and acknowledge that use of the Easements set forth in this Agreement by 
Grantee or any Tenant would be materially frustrated if the communications signals were blocked or 
otherwise interfered with, or if access and/or utilities to and from the Primary Easement Area were inhibited, 
even if temporarily. Grantor, for itself, its successors and assigns, hereby agrees to use its best efforts to 
prevent the occurrence of any of the foregoing and shall promptly undertake any remedial action necessary 
to comply with the terms and provisions of this Section. Grantee shall each have the express right, among 
others, to seek an injunction to prevent any of the activities prohibited by this Section. The foregoing 
notwithstanding, in the event any Existing Agreement or Future Agreement contains a provision permitting 
the landlord to relocate a Tenant’s Facilities and equipment, Grantor may exercise that right in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of such Existing Agreement or Future Agreement; provided, however, (i) that 
the Tenant’s permitted use under such Existing Agreement or Future Agreement is not materially interfered 
with as a result of the relocation or that the Tenant is allowed to place a temporary communications facility 
(e.g., “cell on wheels, COW”) on the Property in order that its operations from the Property may continue 
uninterrupted, and (ii) the parties hereto shall, at Grantee’s request, enter into an amendment to this 
Agreement to temporarily or permanently relocate or modify the Primary Easement Area, as necessary, 
such that such Tenant’s Facilities and such Tenant’s use of the Property are within the scope of the Primary 
Easement Area. 

8. Grantor Environmental Representation. Grantor represents that it has not released to the 
environment, nor otherwise has any knowledge of, the presence of any substance, chemical or waste on the 



 

B-7 
314453507v6 

Property that is identified as hazardous, toxic or dangerous in any applicable federal, state or local law or 
regulation (collectively “Hazardous Substance”) at, on, under, or otherwise burdening the Property in a 
manner that requires corrective action under applicable environmental laws. Grantor shall not introduce or 
use (or permit the use of) any Hazardous Substance on the Property in violation of any applicable federal, 
state or local environmental laws. Grantor shall be responsible for (and shall promptly conduct any 
investigation and remediation as required by any applicable environmental laws) all spills or other releases 
of any Hazardous Substance not caused solely by Grantee that have occurred or which may occur with 
respect to the Property. 

9. Grantee Environmental Representations. Grantee shall not introduce or use any Hazardous 
Substance on the Property or the Easements in violation of any applicable federal, state or local 
environmental laws. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and without limiting the foregoing, Grantee shall not 
be responsible for any Hazardous Substances arising or present on or before the Effective Date. Liability of 
Grantee for any claims with respect to any Hazardous Substances at the Property or the Easements shall be 
limited to contamination solely caused by a release of a Hazardous Substance by Grantee after the Effective 
Date, and in violation of any applicable federal, state or local environmental laws and that requires 
corrective action thereunder. 

10. Environmental Indemnification. To the extent not inconsistent with State law, each Party agrees 
to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the other from and against any and all administrative and judicial 
actions and rulings, claims, causes of action, demands and liability including, but not limited to damages, 
costs, expenses, assessments, penalties, fines, investigatory, cleanup, remedial, removal or restoration work 
required by any governmental authority, losses, judgments and reasonable attorneys’ fees that the 
indemnified Party may suffer or incur due to the existence or discovery of any Hazardous Substance on the 
Property caused by the other Party. This indemnification shall also apply to the migration of any Hazardous 
Substance to other properties, and the release of any Hazardous Substance into the environment that relate 
to or arise from the indemnitor’s activities on the Property. Grantor agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold 
Grantee harmless from claims resulting from actions on the Property not caused by Grantee or the Tenants 
prior to and during the Term. This indemnification shall survive the termination or expiration of this 
Agreement. 

11. General Indemnification. To the extent not inconsistent with State law, Grantor and Grantee shall 
each indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the other (and its owners, partners, members, managers, 
principals, directors, officers, agents, affiliates, representatives, and lenders) against any and all claims, 
damages, costs and expenses (including attorney fees) caused by or arising out of (i) the breach of any 
representation, warranty, or covenant of such indemnifying party set forth herein, or (ii) the negligent acts 
or omissions or willful misconduct in the operations or activities on the Property by the indemnifying Party 
or the employees, agents, or contractors of the indemnifying Party. For the avoidance of doubt, Grantee 
shall not be responsible for, and shall not owe any indemnity obligations with respect to, any matters caused 
by Tenants or that relate to or arise from any Tenant’s activities on the Property. This indemnification shall 
survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement. 

12. Notices. All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing 
and shall be deemed given one (1) business day after posting with a nationally recognized overnight courier 
service, or the earlier of receipt or five (5) business days after posting by registered or certified mail, return 
receipt requested, to the addresses of Grantor and Grantee set forth above in this Agreement. Either Party 
may change its notice address by providing a new recipient name and address by notice as set forth in this 
paragraph. 

13. Estoppel Certificate. At any time, each Party, upon request of the other Party (or in the case of 
Grantor, upon request of a Secured Party or a potential purchaser or assignee of Grantee), shall deliver to 



 

B-8 
314453507v6 

the other Party (and/or to such Secured Party and/or such potential purchaser or assignee as the case may 
be) a written statement of such Party, executed by an authorized representative of such responding Party, 
certifying: (i) that this Agreement is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if there have been 
modifications, stating the modifications and that the modified Agreement is in full force and effect); (ii) 
whether or not, to the best knowledge of the responding Party, the requesting party is in default in 
performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement, and, if so, specifying each such default; (iii) 
that there are no amounts due to the responding party from the requesting party; and (iv) any other 
information reasonably requested concerning this Agreement (in each case, the “Estoppel Certificate”). In 
the event the responding Party fails either to deliver an executed Estoppel Certificate to the requesting Party, 
or to dispute the Estoppel Certificate by delivery to the requesting Party of a notice specifying the nature 
and circumstances of any matter in the Estoppel Certificate that is disputed by the responding Party, in 
either case, within ten (10) days of receipt of the Estoppel Certificate, then all matters specified in the 
Estoppel Certificate shall be deemed true and correct, and the Estoppel Certificate shall thereafter be 
binding on the responding Party, and all of the intended recipients thereof may thereafter rely on the 
Estoppel Certificate as a conclusive statement of fact by the responding Party as to the matters set forth 
therein. 

14. Miscellaneous. 

(a) Amendments, Etc. This Agreement may only be amended, modified or supplemented by 
an agreement in writing signed by each Party. No act or failure to act shall be deemed to constitute an 
amendment or modification or termination hereof. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same 
agreement.  

(b) Default. It shall be an “Event of Default” if either Grantor or Grantee fails to observe or 
perform any of the terms, conditions or its respective obligations set forth in this Agreement. Upon receiving 
written notice of such a default or breach of this Agreement, the defaulting Party shall have thirty (30) days 
to cure such default, but only if such default is of such a nature as is capable of being cured. If the required 
cure of the noticed default cannot reasonably be completed by the defaulting Party within such 30-day 
period, such Party’s failure to perform shall not constitute an Event of Default so long as such Party 
undertakes to cure the failure promptly and diligently and continuously pursues the cure thereof to 
completion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to any Retained Obligations, if the applicable 
Existing Agreement provides for a shorter cure period, such shorter cure period shall apply. In the event 
that the defaulting Party fails to cure such default within the cure period, the non-defaulting Party shall be 
entitled to exercise any rights permitted by applicable law (provided, Grantor shall have no right to 
terminate this Agreement). The foregoing notwithstanding, all damages for which Grantor may be 
compensated shall be limited to the actual damages of Grantor and shall, in the aggregate, in no event 
exceed the amount of consideration paid by Grantee for this Agreement.  

(c) Specific Performance; Self-Help. The Parties understand and agree that the Easements and 
the obligations of Grantor under this Agreement are unique and for that reason, among others, Grantee 
would be irreparably damaged in the event that any provision of this Agreement is not performed in 
accordance with the terms hereof. Accordingly, in the event of any breach or default in or of this Agreement, 
Grantee shall have, in addition and without prejudice to any right or remedy available at law or in equity, 
the right to demand and have specific performance of this Agreement. Additionally, if any failure by 
Grantor hereunder would be reasonably likely to result in injury to persons or property, a default under any 
Existing Agreement or Future Agreement (beyond notice and cure periods), or a lien on the Property or the 
Easements, Grantee shall have the right to cure such failure on Grantor’s behalf, in which case Grantor 
shall reimburse Grantee’s actual costs incurred in connection therewith, along with interest accruing at 10% 
per annum from and after the date incurred, within ten (10) days after written demand therefor (and if 



 

B-9 
314453507v6 

Grantor fails to so reimburse Grantee within such period, Grantee shall have the right, along with all other 
rights and remedies at law or in equity, to lien Grantor’s interest in the Property to enforce such 
reimbursement). 

(d) Governing Law; Waiver, Arbitration, Severability. This Agreement shall be governed by 
and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Michigan without giving effect to any 
choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State or Commonwealth in which the Property is 
located or any other jurisdiction). EACH PARTY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY 
WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY 
HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL ACTION, PROCEEDING, CAUSE OF ACTION, OR 
COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING ANY 
EXHIBITS ATTACHED TO THIS AGREEMENT, OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED 
HEREBY. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (I) NO REPRESENTATIVE 
OF THE OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT THE OTHER 
PARTY WOULD NOT SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER IN THE EVENT OF A 
LEGAL ACTION, (II) IT HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (III) IT 
MAKES THIS WAIVER KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY, AND (IV) IT HAS DECIDED TO 
ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT IN CONSIDERATION OF, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE 
MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATION OF THIS SECTION. Any dispute, controversy, or claim 
arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be finally settled by arbitration 
administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Commercial Arbitration rules, 
and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may be entered in any court having jurisdiction 
thereof. If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, 
such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement 
or invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any other jurisdiction. 

(e) Attorneys’ Fees. If any action is brought by either Party against the other in connection 
with or arising out of this Agreement, the prevailing Party shall be entitled to recover from the other Party 
its reasonable fees and costs, whether through arbitration or a court of competent jurisdiction. 

(f) Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the Purchase Agreement (to the extent reference 
herein) constitute the sole and entire agreement of the Parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject 
matter contained herein, and supersede all prior and contemporaneous understandings and agreements, both 
written and oral, with respect to such subject matter. For the avoidance of doubt, the Exhibits attached 
hereto and referred to herein are hereby incorporated herein and made a part of this Agreement for all 
purposes as if fully set forth herein. 

(g) Further Assurances. Grantor agrees to execute such further instruments and to take such 
further actions as may be reasonably necessary for the full and complete enjoyment of the rights herein 
granted and likewise agrees that Grantee herein shall have the right at any time to redeem for said Grantor 
by payment of any mortgage, taxes or liens on the above described land or lands hereinafter discovered that 
are not specifically described herein, upon default in payment by Grantor, and be subrogated to the rights 
of the holder thereof.  

(h) Arms-Length Transaction. Grantor acknowledges that this is an arms-length transaction 
entered into by Grantor as a result of their own free act and will and Grantee and/or anyone acting on their 
behalf made no representation of value or exerted any duress or coercion. 

(i) Perpetuities. The parties hereto do not intend any interest, right, or option created by this 
Agreement to be a perpetuity or to be subject to invalidation under the perpetuities rule, however, 
notwithstanding the foregoing, if the rule is to be applied to any such interest, right, or option, then the same 



 

B-10 
314453507v6 

shall vest on the soonest occurrence of (i) the date that is twenty-one years (less ten days) after the date of 
death of the last to die of all of the present members of the United States House of Representatives, as of 
the date hereof, and all of their presently existing lineal descendants, or (ii) the date of the expiration of the 
Term (if applicable). 

[REMAINDER INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]  

(SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGES) 
  



 

B-11 
314453507v6 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, intending to be legally bound, have caused this 
Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first written above. 

GRANTOR: 
 
THE CITY OF HASTINGS,  
a Michigan municipal corporation 
 
 
By:   
Name:   
Title:   

[NOTE- Adjust Signature requirements above (some states require witnesses) and modify Notary Blocks 
below to match State Requirements] 

STATE OF _______________ ) 
  ) ss. 
COUNTY OF _______________) 
 

This instrument was acknowledged before me, the undersigned authority, on the _____ day of 
__________ 2025 by ______________, a ______________ of The City of Hastings, a Michigan municipal 
corporation, personally known to me (or proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence) to be the person 
whose names is subscribed to within the instrument and acknowledged to me that such person executed the 
same in their authorized capacity, and that by their signature on the instrument the person, or the entity 
upon behalf of which the person acted, executed the within instrument. 

(SEAL) 

 
__________________________________________ 
Notary Public in and for said County and State 

My commission Expires: Printed Name of Notary: 



 

B-12 
314453507v6 

GRANTEE: 

AIO OPERATING 2, LLC, 
a Delaware limited liability company 
 
 
By:   
Name:   
Title:   

 
STATE OF _______________ ) 
  ) ss. 
COUNTY OF _______________) 

This instrument was acknowledged before me, the undersigned authority, on the _____ day of 
__________ 2025 by ______________, a ________________ of AIO OPERATING 2, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company, on behalf of said limited liability company. 

(SEAL) 

 

             
Notary Public in and for said County and State 

My commission Expires: Printed Name of Notary: 
 
           
  



 

B-13 
314453507v6 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 

[TO BE CONFIRMED UPON RECEIPT OF TITLE COMMITMENT/SURVEY] 

LOTS 1-2 BLK 2, R.G. GRANTS ADD. (700 JEFFERSON ST.) W 1/2 LOTS 3-4 BLK 2 R.G. 
GRANTS ADD (100 BLAIR ST.) PART OF THE SW 1/4 OF SECTION 8, T2N, R8W, VILLAGE OF 
HASTINGS, BARRY COUNTY, MICHIGAN. 
  



 

B-14 
314453507v6 

EXHIBIT B 
 

PRIMARY EASEMENT AREA DESCRIPTION 

That portion of the Property, as described on Exhibit A, on which any Existing Tenant’s Facilities exist on 
the date of this Agreement pursuant to the Existing Agreements, together with:  

(i) the portion of the Property leased or licensed by Grantor or to which Grantor has granted easement rights 
under the Existing Agreements; and 

(ii) the areas shown on the diagrams attached as Exhibit B-1 as occupied (or to be occupied) by the Existing 
Tenants or their telecommunications equipment, including (A) antennas, coax routing on tank sidewall 
(including on the roof, roof handrail, and column leg), coax penetration on balcony and other improvements, 
and (B) the equipment shelter located on the on the Property.  

(iii) the following areas: 

 

 

 



 

B-15 
314453507v6 

EXHIBIT B-1 

 



 

B-16 
314453507v6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

B-17 
314453507v6 

EXHIBIT C 
 

ACCESS EASEMENT 

Utilities and Telecommunications. Grantee is herein granted a non-exclusive easement in, to, under, over, 
and across the Property, as described in Exhibit A hereto, for utility access to the Primary Easement Area, 
including, if applicable, through all shaft ways, chase ways, soffits, risers, columns, crawl spaces, rafters, 
or any other appropriate space, in each case to the extent reasonably necessary to install, operate and 
maintain current and future Facilities, including the right to install, operate and maintain wiring and cabling 
and separate utility meters and submeters.  

Additionally, Grantee is herein granted a non-exclusive easement and right to use (i) any existing utilities, 
cabling or wiring at the Property and to install additional utilities, cabling and wiring at the Property, in 
each case to the extent such rights are granted under the Existing Agreements, and (ii) any existing or future 
utility easements benefitting the Property. 

Access. Grantee is herein granted a non-exclusive easement for ingress and egress to and from the Primary 
Easement Area over and across the Property (and, as reasonably necessary, through any building), including 
providing access to a publicly dedicated roadway, along with the right to use such access easement as 
necessary for the development, repair, maintenance and removal of Facilities as permitted pursuant to the 
terms hereof and for any other activities and use on the Property permitted under this Agreement. 

Additionally, Grantee is herein granted a non-exclusive easement and right (i) for ingress and egress over 
and across the Property to the extent such rights are granted under the Existing Agreements and (ii) to use 
any existing or future access easements benefitting the Property. 

Further, the Access Easement shall include the right for temporary parking from time to time and for 
temporary staging of vehicles, equipment, supplies and individuals for the construction, modification, 
operation, maintenance, repairing, replacing or removal of the Facilities. 

Together with: Access and utility easements (for the purposes set forth above) in, to, under, over and 
across the following areas: 

 

 
 



 

B-18 
314453507v6 

 

 
  



 

B-19 
314453507v6 

EXHIBIT D 
 

EXISTING AGREEMENTS 

[MOLs and other recorded lease documents to be added prior to execution]  

 That certain Communications License Agreement dated May 25, 2000, by and between Grantor, 
as Licensor, and New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, as successor in interest to Michiana 
Metronet, Inc., as Licensee, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Communications 
License Agreement, dated March 28, 2013, as amended by that certain Second Amendment 
Agreement to Communications License Agreement, dated April 18, 2014, as amended by that 
certain Third Amendment to Communications License Agreement dated April 3, 2015, for lease 
of certain space located at the Property, as further described therein. 



Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

To: City Council 

From: Chief Jordan 

Subject: Purchase Request for Fire Department Bathroom Remodel    

Meeting Date: August 25th, 2025 

Recommended Action:  

Motion to approve All Call Restoration to remodel the fire department bathrooms for $24,432.57, with a 

$5,000 contingency, for a total approved amount of $29,432.57. 

Background Information:  

The two bathrooms at the fire station still feature a 1960s layout and design, with floors that 

are cracked, dirty, unhygienic, dingy, and very outdated. Neither bathroom meets ADA 

requirements. The shower room or decontamination room is unusable and does not meet NFPA 

decontamination requirements. This limited project will bring the bathroom to a usable state 

while limiting the amount of money used to renovate the bathroom in this old building.  

An RFP and sealed bid process was used to select the contractor to complete this project. All 

Call Restoration, a locally based company in Lake Odessa, has worked with the department in 

the past.  

Financial Implications:  

This is an approved budgeted CIP F10 for the 2025-2026 fiscal year. The budgeted amount for this 

project is $35,000; the total project cost will be $29,432.57 which is $5,567.43 under budget.  

Attachments: 

 Pictures of the existing bathrooms

 Quote/Scope of work

 Purchase order # 78989

10B



 
 

Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 



 
 

Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 



 
 

Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

 



1

All Call Restoration

All Call Restoration
3710 West Tupper Lake Rd
Lake Odessa, MI.
844-462-2557

Client: Hastings Fire Dept
Property: 110 E Mill St

Hastings, MI 49058

Operator: JBAKER

Estimator: Joe Baker

Type of Estimate:
Date Entered: 1/3/2025 Date Assigned:

Price List: MIBC8X_JAN25
Labor Efficiency: Restoration/Service/Remodel

Estimate: HASTINGS_FD_25REMOD

"Your Beacon of Hope, When Disaster Strikes"



2

All Call Restoration

All Call Restoration
3710 West Tupper Lake Rd
Lake Odessa, MI.
844-462-2557

HASTINGS_FD_25REMOD 8/15/2025 Page: 2

 HASTINGS_FD_25REMOD

 Main Level

Main Level
DESCRIPTION QTY

1.  Permit 1.00 EA
2.  Contingency 1.00 EA
$5,000 contingency
3.  Dumpster load - Approx. 20 yards, 4 tons of debris 1.00 EA
4.  Final cleaning - construction - Commercial 290.00 SF

Bath1 Height: 10'

DESCRIPTION QTY

5.  Remove Toilet partition (plastic laminate or baked enamel steel) 1.00 EA
6.  Remove Vinyl tile - self adhesive 60.00 SF
7.  Demolition Laborer - per hour 6.00 HR
Scrape/prep for new flooring
8.  Paint the walls - two coats 320.00 SF
9.  Painter - per hour 4.00 HR
Prep for paint
10.  Detach & Reset Toilet 1.00 EA
11.  Vinyl plank flooring 60.00 SF
12.  Add for glued down vinyl plank application over concrete 60.00 SF
13.  Cove base molding - rubber or vinyl, 4" high 32.00 LF
14.  Lockset - passage - Medium duty - Commercial grade 1.00 EA
15.  R&R Mirror - 1/4" plate glass 6.00 SF
16.  Toilet paper dispenser - Detach & reset 1.00 EA
17.  Soap/hand sanitizer dispenser - Detach & reset 1.00 EA
18.  Install Paper towel dispenser with waste receptacle 1.00 EA
19.  Remove Paper towel dispenser with waste receptacle 1.00 EA

Bath2 Height: 10'
Subroom:  Room3 (1) Height: 10'

DESCRIPTION QTY

20.  Remove Urinal partition (plastic laminate or baked enamel steel) 1.00 EA
21.  Remove Toilet partition (plastic laminate or baked enamel steel) 1.00 EA
22.  Remove Vinyl tile - self adhesive 130.00 SF
23.  Demolition Laborer - per hour 16.00 HR



3

All Call Restoration

All Call Restoration
3710 West Tupper Lake Rd
Lake Odessa, MI.
844-462-2557

HASTINGS_FD_25REMOD 8/15/2025 Page: 3

CONTINUED - Bath2

QTYDESCRIPTION

Scrape/prep floor for new flooring
24.  Paint the walls - two coats 566.67 SF
25.  Painter - per hour 6.00 HR
Prep for paint
26.  Concrete saw cutting 1.00 EA
27.  Vinyl plank flooring 130.00 SF
28.  Add for glued down vinyl plank application over concrete 130.00 SF
29.  R&R Toilet 1.00 EA
30.  Remove Paper towel dispenser with waste receptacle 1.00 EA
31.  Install Paper towel dispenser with waste receptacle 1.00 EA
32.  R&R Mirror - 1/4" plate glass 6.00 SF
33.  Soap/hand sanitizer dispenser - Detach & reset 1.00 EA
34.  Toilet paper dispenser - Detach & reset 1.00 EA
35.  R&R Cove base molding - rubber or vinyl, 4" high 55.00 LF
36.  Lockset - passage - Medium duty - Commercial grade 1.00 EA
37.  R&R Light fixture - High grade 1.00 EA
38.  Painter - per hour 8.00 HR
Prep and repaint existing large storage cabinet

Bath3 Height: 10'

DESCRIPTION QTY

39.  Remove Toilet partition (plastic laminate or baked enamel steel) 1.00 EA
40.  R&R Fiberglass shower unit 1.00 EA
41.  Shower faucet 1.00 EA
42.  Plumbing (Bid item) 1.00 EA
43.  Shower door 1.00 EA
44.  Remove Tile - vinyl composition 100.00 SF
45.  Demolition Laborer - per hour 8.00 HR
Scrape/prep floor for new flooring
46.  Vinyl plank flooring 100.00 SF
47.  Add for glued down vinyl plank application over concrete 100.00 SF
48.  Paint the walls - two coats 400.00 SF
49.  Seal/prime (1 coat) then paint (2 coats) the surface area 192.00 SF
50.  Painter - per hour 8.00 HR
Prep for paint
51.  Interior door - solid core - pre-hung unit 1.00 EA
52.  Finish Carpenter - per hour 4.00 HR
53.  Door knob - interior 1.00 EA
54.  Paint door slab only - 2 coats (per side) 2.00 EA
55.  Paint door/window trim & jamb - 2 coats (per side) 2.00 EA



4

All Call Restoration

All Call Restoration
3710 West Tupper Lake Rd
Lake Odessa, MI.
844-462-2557

HASTINGS_FD_25REMOD 8/15/2025 Page: 4

CONTINUED - Bath3

QTYDESCRIPTION

56.  R&R Toilet 1.00 EA
57.  R&R Cove base molding - rubber or vinyl, 4" high 64.00 LF
58.  Remove Paper towel dispenser with waste receptacle 1.00 EA
59.  Install Paper towel dispenser with waste receptacle 1.00 EA
60.  Toilet paper dispenser - Detach & reset 1.00 EA
61.  R&R Mirror - 1/4" plate glass 6.00 SF
62.  Stud wall - 2" x 4" x 8' - 16" oc 12.00 LF
63.  Wall support for new stud wall 1.00 EA
64.  1/2" water rock - hung, taped, floated, ready for paint 192.00 SF

Labor Minimums Applied

DESCRIPTION QTY

65.  Framing labor minimum 1.00 EA
66.  Drywall labor minimum 1.00 EA
67.  Electrical labor minimum 1.00 EA

Grand Total $24,432.57

Joe Baker

Grand Total Areas:
1,286.67 SF Walls 290.00 SF Ceiling SF Walls and Ceiling1,576.67

290.00 SF Floor 32.22 SY Flooring 127.00 LF Floor Perimeter
0.00 SF Long Wall 0.00 SF Short Wall 132.00 LF Ceil. Perimeter

290.00 Floor Area 333.89 Total Area 1,286.67 Interior Wall Area
1,437.33 Exterior Wall Area 130.67 Exterior Perimeter of

Walls

0.00 Surface Area 0.00 Number of Squares 0.00 Total Perimeter Length
0.00 Total Ridge Length 0.00 Total Hip Length



Process Final Sign Off By:     ON:       
               CLERK’S REPRESENTATIVE          DATE 

City of Hastings 
COUNTY OF BARRY, STATE OF MICHIGAN 

               
 

Sealed Bid Opening Results 
 

Procurement Number:       [Assigned by Clerk’s Office] 
 
B id Name:               
 
Opening Date & Time:________________________________________________ 
 

 
Vender Bids: 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Present at 
Opening:________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 

 

Bid Granted to: _______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 

PO #:     ISSUED TO:         ON:      
            APPROVED VENDOR    DATE 



Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

To: Mayor Tossava & City Council 

CC: Sarah Moyer-Cale, City Manager  

From: Robert Neil, Street Superintendent 

Meeting Date: August 25, 2025 

Subject: Replacement of #130 Dump Truck 

Recommended Action: 

Motion to approve the purchase of a 2026 HV507 single axle cab and chassis from West 
Michigan International for $114,357.74; and to approve Truck and Trailer Specialties to upfit 
this truck for $107,235. 

Background information: 

This truck is a 2026 HV507 International single axle with a 10’ dump body, 7’ side wing, and 
unibody scraper. This will replace the current truck, a 2000 Sterling that is 24 years old with 
89,660 miles and 2092 hours. This truck is one of the hardest vehicles in our fleet to find 
parts for. The truck is used for snow removal, leaf pickup and material hauling. 

Financial Implications: 

This project was listed in the capital improvement plan as a complete replacement, and the 
estimated cost was $210,000. The actual total for the truck chassis and equipment upfitting is 
$221,592.74, which means today’s estimate is $11,592.74 above the budgeted amount. There 
are sufficient funds to cover the additional cost.  

It is important to note that a $2,000 tariff-driven surcharge has been included in the total. This 
applies to trucks with a build date before the end of November. If the build date is later, an 
additional charge will likely apply.  

Attachments 
 International Quote with tariff-driven surcharge information
 Truck & Trailer Specialties quote
 Photos

10C















 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 



Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

To: Mayor Tossava & City Council  

CC: Sarah Moyer-Cale, City Manager 

From: Rob Neil, Streets Superintendent 

Meeting Date: August 25, 2025 

Subject: 2025 Street Chip Sealing Bid Award 

Recommended Action:  

Motion to approve a purchase order for Chip Sealing Contract and accept the proposal from 

Ace Asphalt & Paving for $132,734.25. 

Background Information:  

This chip seal project is the continuation of the street maintenance program to improve the 

streets within the City of Hastings and extend the lifespan of our streets before total 

reconstruction becomes necessary. It is recommended that a 2-layer application be applied to 

the existing asphalt. 

Quotes were sought from two additional asphalt companies: Evergreen Roadworks and Don Jon 

Asphalt.  Neither vendor was able to supply a quote in time for the City Council agenda packet.  

Financial implications: 

The total financial impact to the fiscal year’s budget is $132,734.25, which is 66% of the 

planned budget for contracted paving. The total project cost is split between the Major (73%) 

and Local Street (27%) funds.  

Attachments: 

 Attachment from Ace Asphalt & Paving

 Maps/list

10D







Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

To: City Council  

From: Robert Neil, Superintendent of Streets 

Subject: FY25/26 Lead Line Replacement Program – Plumbing Contract 

Meeting Date: August 25, 2025 

Recommended Action:  

Motion to approve plumbing for FY ‘25 lead line replacement by Advantage Plumbing & Drain in 

the amount of $157,290. 

Background Information:  

The city requires a licensed plumber to connect new water services to a meter.  There was one 

other bidder.  Advantage Plumbing was the low bid, and the other was Steve's Plumbing for 

$274,500.  

Financial Implications:  

Plumbing for lead line replacements is a budgeted expense.  

Attachments: 

 Advantage Bid

 Bid Tab

10E



























































Process Final Sign Off By:     ON:       
               CLERK’S REPRESENTATIVE          DATE 

City of Hastings 
COUNTY OF BARRY, STATE OF MICHIGAN 

               
 

Sealed Bid Opening Results 
 

Procurement Number:       [Assigned by Clerk’s Office] 
 
B id Name:               
 
Opening Date & Time:________________________________________________ 
 

 
Vender Bids: 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Name:_____________________________________        Amount: _____________________________________ 
 
Present at 
Opening:________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 

 

Bid Granted to: _______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 

PO #:     ISSUED TO:         ON:      
            APPROVED VENDOR    DATE 



Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

To: Hastings City Council  

From: Sarah Moyer-Cale, City Manager 

Subject: Memorandum of Understanding with Mercy Ambulance, Life EMS, and participating 

municipalities.  

Meeting Date: August 25, 2025 

Recommended Action:  

Motion to authorize the Mayor to sign the Memorandum of Understanding for Ambulance 

Service contingent on final review and approval by the City Attorney.  

Background Information:  

Our service area will be transitioned from Mercy Ambulance to Life EMS effective September 

15, 2025. The enclosed draft MOU will help effect a mutual understanding of this transition. 

There are still some remaining modifications to be made to meet the city attorney’s approval. 

As time is of the essence, I recommend approving the MOU contingent upon our attorney’s 

final approval.  

Financial Implications:  

The city will continue to pay the same amount as we contributed to Mercy through the existing 

agreement term. This amount is already budgeted and approved.  

Attachments: 

 Draft MOU

 Existing Service Agreement with Mercy Ambulance

10F



 

1 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  

AMBULANCE SERVICE AGREEMENT 

This MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (this “MOU”) is made as of [--], 2025 
(“Effective Date”), by and between the City of Hastings, Baltimore Township, Carlton Township, 
Hastings Charter Township, and Hope Township, all municipal corporations within Barry County 
(collectively, the “Municipalities”), Mercy Ambulance Service, Inc., a Michigan corporation 
(“Mercy”), and Life EMS, Inc., a Michigan corporation (“Life EMS”). Municipalities, Mercy, and 
Life EMS each shall be referred herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties”.   

Recitals 

A. Municipalities and Mercy are parties to an Ambulance Service Agreement, dated 
as of January 1, 2022, as amended (the “Services Agreement”), attached hereto as 
Appendix A and incorporated herein by reference, pursuant to which Mercy has 
agreed to provide emergency ambulance services to the Municipalities;  

 
B. Mercy plans to discontinue the services provided under the Services Agreement to 

the Municipalities; 

C. Life EMS is engaged in the business of providing ambulance and paramedic 
medical services, and will obtain Michigan Department of Health and Human 
Services (MDHHS) licensure to operate in Barry County to provide such services 
to the Municipalities; and 
 

D. Municipalities wishes Life EMS to provide services the under this MOU and certain 
terms and conditions of the Services Agreement until Municipalities and Life EMS 
enter into a new agreement for the provision of such services.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, for the consideration described in the Services Agreement, the 

receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. Life EMS agrees to provide the services set forth in the Services Agreement in 
accordance with the terms set forth therein (and in accordance with the current subsidy billing 
terms) through December 31, 2026, or until such time that Life EMS and the Municipalities enter 
into a definitive agreement for such services. 

2.  Life EMS looks forward to demonstrating its desire to serve the Barry County area 
for many years into the future.  Life EMS understands it must earn the trust of the Barry County 
communities to provide this service over the long term. 

3. Mercy agrees to cooperate in good faith with Municipalities and Life EMS to affect 
the transition of such services from Mercy to Life EMS, including, but not limited to, prompt return 
of any such equipment used in furtherance of the services that was purchased or funded by any of 
the Municipalities, as identified in Appendix B, and any documentation or records necessary in 
connection with the provision of services under the Services Agreement. 

MJ_DMS 39531066v1 



 

2 

4. Except as otherwise set forth in this MOU, Life EMS is not assuming any liability 
or obligation arising under or out of the Services Agreement by Mercy with respect thereto.  

5. Any municipal subsidies related to the services covered by the Services Agreement 
paid or payable by any Municipality after the date of this MOU shall be paid to Life EMS and, to 
the extent any such subsidy is paid to Mercy, Mercy shall turn over such funds to Life EMS 
promptly upon receipt. 

6. This MOU will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their 
respective successors and assigns. 

7. This MOU shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws 
of the State of Michigan without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule 
(whether of the State of Michigan or any other jurisdiction). 

8. The Parties may execute this MOU in any number of counterparts with the same 
effect as if each Party had signed the same physical document. All executed counterparts, whether 
originals or copies sent by facsimile, electronic mail, or a combination, shall be construed together 
and shall constitute one and the same document. 

[Signatures on following page] 



 

Signature page to Memorandum of Understanding 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Memorandum of Understanding 
to be duly executed as of the date first written above. 

 
MERCY AMBULANCE SERVICE, 
INC.: 
 
 
By: _____________________________  
Name:   
Its:    
 
 
LIFE EMS, INC.: 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 
Name:   
Its: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
MUNICIPALITIES:  
  
 
 
By: ______________________________ 
Name:   
Its: 
 
 
By: ______________________________ 
Name:   
Its: 
 
 
By: ______________________________ 
Name:   
Its: 
 
 
By: ______________________________ 
Name:   
Its: 
 
 
By: ______________________________ 
Name:   
Its: 
 
 
By: ______________________________ 
Name:   
Its: 
 



 

 

Appendix A 
 

Services Agreement 
 

[Attached] 
  



 

5 

Appendix B 
 

Equipment Provided by Municipalities 





















Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

To: Hastings City Council 

From: Sarah Moyer-Cale, City Manager 

Subject: Recommendation re: Assistant City Manager 

Meeting Date: August 25, 2025 

Recommended Action:  

Motion to proceed with developing an Assistant City Manager position and eliminating the 

office of the Director of Public Services.  

Background Information:  

The Director of Public Services position was vacated mid-February. A search for a new director 

was undertaken, which did not result in a successful hire. Due to substantial project workload, a 

temporary Special Projects Director position was created to assist with ongoing projects with 

the intent to re-evaluate the DPS director position at a later date.  

The hiring pause has allowed us to better understand where our need gaps are. The 

superintendent positions lessen the direct need for oversight by the Director of technical and 

day-to-day operations. It has become apparent that there were many instances of duplication 

of effort in the director’s position. We have also contracted out our engineering reviews, which 

have expedited the review process significantly.  

All the above being said, there is a need for higher-level administrative oversight for the 

department. This includes areas such as hiring and management of human resources, long-term 

planning, spec development and bidding oversight, major equipment/project finance planning, 

interdepartmental coordination, and implementation of citywide goals. I do not believe this 

requires a full-time position.  

Beyond the DPS department, there are other needs gaps. Council has wanted to focus on 

enhancing citizen education and awareness opportunities, including better public 

communication, strengthening relationships with schools and other civic groups, and making 

more information available. A public communications officer could be responsible for meeting 

many of these goals.  

11A



 
 

Regular Council 
Agenda Item Memorandum 

I initially considered creating a position that would make up the public services tasks listed 

above as well as communications and special projects. Upon further consideration, I believe 

that we would need a more experienced candidate to carry that off successfully, which makes 

the role both more expensive to fill and more challenging to keep filled. Instead, I have 

designed the assistant city manager role to manage public communications and special projects 

while taking on some of the more straightforward DPS Director tasks that are currently on my 

plate. This will allow me to shift some of my responsibilities to this new position and free up 

more time for the other DPS roles.  

The Public Services Director is established in our city charter; however, the charter allows for 

offices to be amended or removed by ordinance. If the council chooses to move forward, I will 

present an ordinance to remove the office of the DPS Director.  

 

Financial Implications:  

The cost of this change depends on who is hired for the position and what level of experience 

they have. I estimate this will cost less than $10,000 above the presently budgeted wages.  

 

Attachments: 

 Proposed Assistant Manager Job Description 









Dale Boulter     Julissa Kelly      
Chief of Police       Deputy Chief 

Hastings Police Department Council report for the month of April 2025 

Staffing 

Employed Recruit Brennan Sensiba started the police academy and is performing well with anticipated 

graduation in December. You may see Brennan from time to time at events but currently his job is to 

attend the academy and learn the basics of police work. Brennan will accompany the PD at events on 

some weekends and time off from school. Brennan will be our fifth officer sponsored by the City of 

Hastings. As previously reported, much of the cost associated with the past sponsorships were funded 

by the state grant. As of this report I have not received any information regarding the status of the grant 

for Brennan. 

Ofc. Chojnacki has been assigned to Sgt. Rangel on the 6P-6A shift for the past rotation. He will be 

making the shift back to the 6A-6P shift and placed with Ofc. Brown to continue his Field Training. Ofc. 

Chojnacki is performing very well, and we anticipate him to complete the training program in mid-

September.  

I have posted the Detective position for the required five days. Following the expiration of the five days I 

will prepare for the testing procedure. We have not had a detective for some time and the task have 

fallen back to the officers along with the Deputy Chief and Myself. The Deputy Chief has done a great 

job as most of the tasks have fallen upon her to deal with. The Deputy Chief and I have been involved 

with cases that require us to attend court trials. We both love to get out of the office and do normal cop 

work, but the other requirements of our jobs remain. It will be exciting to see someone in this position 

as they learn and perform.  

STATS  

The past month officers responded to 553 calls for service, with a total of 21 arrests, 7 traffic accidents, 

and 2 non-traffic accidents. Officers issued a total of 19 citations, 11 being moving violations, 8 being 

Non-moving violations. Officers conducted a total of 95 traffic stops for the month of July. 

Hastings City Police 
201 E. State St.  

Hastings, MI 49058 
(269) 948-4800 Dispatch

(269) 945-5744 Office
(269) 945-4358 Fax

12A



RESERVE OFFICERS 

The Reserve Department contributed 61.75 hours for the month of July. The Reserve Department is 

currently looking to bring on another person and has been conducting interviews.  

TRAINING: 

Several officers attended training at Kellogg Community College regarding Menta Health Awareness. 

Officers have completed virtual training assigned to them and in compliance with the Continued 

Professional Education standard set by MCOLES. 

School and kids 

School is back in session and children are once again walking to and from school. Please keep the 

sidewalks clear from vehicles and other items. Be alert in your travels, especially prior to school and 

after school when children are present.  

Be patient while driving in and around school zones. Be careful of traffic signals and slow down even if 

you have the green light. Do not disregard our crossing guards, you will not like the result.  

Michigan Vehicle Code 257.613d Failure to stop for school crossing guard 
holding stop sign in upright position; misdemeanor; presumption. 
Sec. 613d. 

    (1) A driver of a motor vehicle who fails to stop when a school crossing guard is in a 
school crossing and is holding a stop sign in an upright position visible to approaching 
vehicular traffic is guilty of a misdemeanor. 
    (2) In a proceeding for a violation of this section, proof that the particular vehicle 
described in the citation, complaint, or warrant was used in the violation, together with 
proof that the defendant named in the citation complaint or warrant was the registered 
owner of the vehicle at the time of the violation, constitutes in evidence a presumption 
that the registered owner of the vehicle was the driver of the vehicle at the time of the 
violation. 
 

Officers will be monitoring and enforcing all traffic violations in and around the schools and 

intersections. Please help us keep children safe and spread the word to be patient, slow down, and obey 

directions from crossing guards.  

Code Compliance report 

Report attached  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Dale Boulter 

Chief of Police 













City of Hastings 
Code Compliance Officer 

July 2025 Activity Report 

 
 

 

  

QUANTITY COMPLAINT   

3 Animal related (90-835)   

34 Grass and weeds more than 8” tall (38-105)   

8 
Compostable yard debris and refuse in right-of-way, snow 
piles (74-39, 74-71, 74-72) 

  

0 Garbage Code Violations (66-88/89/90/93/94)   

3 Vehicles parked on unapproved surfaces – residential zones (90-929)   

12 Unlicensed/Inoperable vehicles, parts, or tire storage (38-76, 77 ,78)   

14 Refuse and debris in unscreened area of yard (90-881, 90-882)   

0 Rental Unit complaints   

23 Signage issues/ Signs in Right-Of-Way   

0 Sign Permits Issued   

1 Fencing Issues   

3 Fence Permits Issued   

1 Structure & Building Maintenance Issues   

0 Recreational Vehicle Issues   

0 Abandoned refrigerator w/door attached (54-61)   

4 Sidewalk parking/right-of-way obstructions (74-71)   

19 Miscellaneous Issues & Complaints	   

125	 Total	Violations/Complaints	Handled	   

26 Letters sent   

5 Citations issued   

179 Follow Ups   

NOTES:	 Miscellaneous	Issues/	Complaints	details	   



 

Page 2 

QUANTITY COMPLAINT   

 
 Positive progress on reducing past due rental 

inspections continues. Also improving the accuracy of 
our list of rental properties. 

  

 
 Although it is August and we are having a mild drought 

the number of mowing violations for both grass & weeds 
remains high. 

  

    

    

    

    

 	   

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 BY: Frank Jesensek  DATE: 8/8/25 

 



Institution Account Description Balance

Interest 

Rate

Flagstar Common Cash (Primary Checking) (22,801.78)$   0.43%

Payroll 17,508.18$   0.45%

Savings 2,922,993.42$   3.40%

**Tax Collection 1,171,551.86$   N/A

Total 4,089,251.68$   

** Includes funds collected on behalf of other governmental agencies

Highpoint Common Cash 46,597.62$   N/A

Drug Enforcement 18,211.94$   N/A

Library PayPal 500.00$   N/A

*Tax Collection 48,721.18$   N/A

Total 114,030.74$   

* Includes funds collected on behalf of other governmental agencies

Michigan CLASS General Fund (Pooled) 6,634,501.76$   4.3727%

Water & Sewer 609,642.33$      4.3727%

Equipment Fund 309,643.73$      4.3727%

Total 7,553,787.82$   

American Dep Mgmt Co Money Market Account 4,015,781.97$   4.22%

Total 4,015,781.97$   

Total, All Investments & Deposits 15,772,852.21$    

Institution Balance

% of

Total

Flagstar 4,089,251.68$   25.9%

Highpoint 114,030.74$      0.7%

Michigan CLASS 7,553,787.82$   47.9%

American Dep Mgmt Co 4,015,781.97$   25.5%

Total 15,772,852.21$   

Type of Investment or Deposit Balance

% of

Total

Interest 14,487,269.61$   91.8%

Non-Interest 1,285,582.60$     8.2%

Total 15,772,852.21$    

City of Hastings

Investments & Deposits Status Report as of July 31, 2025

Note: Overdraft on Common Cash a result of vendor-initiated ACH 

transactions completed on 7/31/25 when expected on 8/1/25. No penalty 

assessed by Flagstar for overdraft, which was corrected by transfer from 

Savings on 8/1/25

8/21/2025 Page 1 of 1

12B



CITY OF HASTINGS

SUMMARY REVENUES  AND EXPENDITURES COMPARED TO BUDGET
FOR THE 1 MONTHS ENDING JULY 31, 2025

THIS YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD LAST YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD

FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF

31-JUL-25 2025-2026 BUDGET 31-JUL-24 2024-2025 BUDGET

FUND 101 - GENERAL FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 8 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 08/21/2025     11:39AM

REVENUE

 TAXES .00 3,746,294 0.00% 272,332.32 3,638,300 7.00%

 SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS .00 43,650 0.00% 877.94 32,500 3.00%

 LICENSES & PERMITS 1,210.66 17,775 7.00% 1,164.17 19,250 6.00%

 FEDERAL REVENUES .00 0 0.00% .00 236,216 0.00%

 STATE SHARED REVENUES (          163,990.30) 1,153,016 (14.00%) .00 1,139,391 0.00%

 INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUES 241,519.92 570,000 42.00% .00 923,228 0.00%

 CHARGES FOR SERVICES 2,700.37 646,150 0.00% 4,427.04 668,100 1.00%

 FINES & FORFEITURES 342.70 10,000 3.00% 435.50 8,500 5.00%

 INTEREST AND RENTALS 10,376.92 430,840 2.00% 33,065.19 335,400 10.00%

 OTHER REVENUE 456.80 73,500 1.00% 1,331.00 451,300 0.00%

 INCOMING TRANSFERS .00 0 0.00% .00 0 0.00%

TOTAL REVENUE & INCOMING TRANSFERS 92,617.07 6,691,225 1.00% 313,633.16 7,452,185 4.00%

EXPENDITURES

 CITY COUNCIL 1,126.32 77,525 1.00% 33,804.28 82,326 41.00%

 MAYOR 716.66 16,445 4.00% 1,665.05 14,811 11.00%

 CITY MANAGER 14,336.62 201,801 7.00% 20,940.81 192,810 11.00%

 FINANCE DEPARTMENT 26,817.24 431,096 6.00% 25,282.24 396,945 6.00%

 CLERK 8,352.88 121,552 7.00% 11,113.33 117,396 9.00%

 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (                   80.68) 271,100 0.00% 32,721.37 244,000 13.00%

 BOARD OF REVIEW .00 2,612 0.00% 1.26 2,512 0.00%

 TREASURER 6,354.01 95,730 7.00% 6,829.99 83,928 8.00%

 ASSESSOR 11,975.90 197,742 6.00% 10,900.82 171,282 6.00%

 ELECTIONS .00 57,681 0.00% 119.86 56,368 0.00%

 CITY HALL & GROUNDS 8,048.73 523,500 2.00% 7,194.00 158,950 5.00%

 LEGAL AND AUDIT .00 73,500 0.00% .00 70,000 0.00%

 OTHER GENERAL GOVERNMENT 1,995.51 568,147 0.00% 355,497.63 588,415 60.00%

 POLICE 141,164.96 2,327,377 6.00% 205,023.22 2,099,689 10.00%

 CODE COMPLIANCE 2,786.95 55,660 5.00% 4,135.98 50,962 8.00%

 FIRE DEPARTMENT 36,188.72 614,032 6.00% 57,770.68 524,545 11.00%

 INSPECTIONS .00 65,000 0.00% .00 100,000 0.00%

 DEPT OF PUBLIC SERVICE ADMIN 13,848.59 191,890 7.00% 13,976.88 159,240 9.00%

 PARKING LOTS - NON SAD 462.09 21,000 2.00% 559.68 23,000 2.00%

 PARKING LOTS - SAD 472.08 31,460 2.00% 368.63 267,500 0.00%

 STREET LIGHTING 7,986.93 118,000 7.00% 9,649.00 99,500 10.00%

 COMMUNITY SERVICES 8,987.06 389,399 2.00% 9,919.13 300,355 3.00%

 BROWNFIELD GRANT .00 0 0.00% .00 0 0.00%

 PLANNING AND ZONING 110.97 17,736 1.00% 103.59 18,685 1.00%

 JOINT PLANNING & ZONING .00 100 0.00% .00 400 0.00%

 COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVLOPMNT 10,953.61 160,957 7.00% 14,878.98 143,143 10.00%



CITY OF HASTINGS

SUMMARY REVENUES  AND EXPENDITURES COMPARED TO BUDGET
FOR THE 1 MONTHS ENDING JULY 31, 2025

THIS YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD LAST YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD

FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF

YTD ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET 31-JUL-24 BUDGET BUDGET

FUND 101 - GENERAL FUND

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 8 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 08/21/2025     11:39AM

 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT GRANTS .00 100 0.00% 20,973.50 65,100 32.00%

 CABLE ACCESS 783.89 12,422 6.00% 1,219.56 13,776 9.00%

 PARKS AND RECREATION 30,881.49 542,581 6.00% 30,037.10 1,344,325 2.00%

 ARTS AND CULTURAL ACTIVITIES 968.77 41,840 2.00% 3,952.77 81,526 5.00%

 OTHER FINANCING USES .00 281,624 0.00% .00 549,696 0.00%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & OUTGOING TRANSFERS 335,239.30 7,509,609 4.00% 878,639.34 8,021,185 11.00%

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (          242,622.23) (       818,384) (          565,006.18) (       569,000)



CITY OF HASTINGS

SUMMARY REVENUES  AND EXPENDITURES COMPARED TO BUDGET
FOR THE 1 MONTHS ENDING JULY 31, 2025

THIS YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD LAST YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD

FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF

31-JUL-25 2025-2026 BUDGET 31-JUL-24 2024-2025 BUDGET

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 8 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 08/21/2025     11:41AM

FUND 202 - MAJOR STREETS

REVENUES 62,508.20 841,849 7.00% 63,983.36 1,235,556 5.00%

INCOMING TRANSFERS .00 0 0.00% .00 225,000 0.00%

TOTAL REVENUE & INCOMING TRANSFERS 62,508.20 841,849 7.00% 63,983.36 1,460,556 4.00%

EXPENDITURES 39,036.96 805,878 5.00% 34,602.76 1,593,169 2.00%

OUTGOING TRANSFERS .00 150,000 0.00% .00 150,000 0.00%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & OUTGOING TRANSFERS 39,036.96 955,878 4.00% 34,602.76 1,743,169 2.00%

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 23,471.24 (       114,029) 29,380.60 (       282,613)

FUND 203 - LOCAL STREETS

REVENUES 25,447.62 370,551 7.00% 25,858.13 373,772 7.00%

INCOMING TRANSFERS .00 250,000 0.00% .00 300,000 0.00%

TOTAL REVENUE & INCOMING TRANSFERS 25,447.62 620,551 4.00% 25,858.13 673,772 4.00%

EXPENDITURES 35,785.29 688,525 5.00% 55,665.77 721,691 8.00%

OUTGOING TRANSFERS

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & OUTGOING TRANSFERS 35,785.29 688,525 5.00% 55,665.77 721,691 8.00%

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (            10,337.67) (         67,974) (            29,807.64) (         47,919)



CITY OF HASTINGS

SUMMARY REVENUES  AND EXPENDITURES COMPARED TO BUDGET
FOR THE 1 MONTHS ENDING JULY 31, 2025

THIS YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD LAST YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD

FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF

31-JUL-25 2025-2026 BUDGET 31-JUL-24 2024-2025 BUDGET

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY               8 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  08/21/2025     11:52AM

FUND 209 - CEMETERY FUND

REVENUES 1,250.00 235,401 1.00% 22,074.71 273,779 8.00%

INCOMING TRANSFERS

TOTAL REVENUE & INCOMING TRANSFERS 1,250.00 235,401 1.00% 22,074.71 273,779 8.00%

EXPENDITURES 29,688.96 178,883 17.00% 5,353.50 312,362 2.00%

OUTGOING TRANSFERS

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & OUTGOING TRANSFERS 29,688.96 178,883 17.00% 5,353.50 312,362 2.00%

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (            28,438.96) 56,518 16,721.21 (         38,583)



CITY OF HASTINGS

SUMMARY REVENUES  AND EXPENDITURES COMPARED TO BUDGET
FOR THE 1 MONTHS ENDING JULY 31, 2025

THIS YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD LAST YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD

FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF

31-JUL-25 2025-2026 BUDGET 31-JUL-24 2024-2025 BUDGET

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY               8 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  08/21/2025     11:54AM

FUND 243 - BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTH

REVENUES .00 140,450 0.00% 236.92 63,200 0.00%

INCOMING TRANSFERS

TOTAL REVENUE & INCOMING TRANSFERS .00 140,450 0.00% 236.92 63,200 0.00%

EXPENDITURES .00 41,000 0.00% .00 45,000 0.00%

OUTGOING TRANSFERS

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & OUTGOING TRANSFERS .00 41,000 0.00% .00 45,000 0.00%

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 99,450 236.92 18,200



CITY OF HASTINGS

SUMMARY REVENUES  AND EXPENDITURES COMPARED TO BUDGET
FOR THE 1 MONTHS ENDING JULY 31, 2025

THIS YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD LAST YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD

FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF

31-JUL-25 2025-2026 BUDGET 31-JUL-24 2024-2025 BUDGET

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY               8 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  08/21/2025     11:55AM

FUND 248 - DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

REVENUES 24.62 836,300 0.00% 7,685.94 807,950 1.00%

INCOMING TRANSFERS

TOTAL REVENUE & INCOMING TRANSFERS 24.62 836,300 0.00% 7,685.94 807,950 1.00%

EXPENDITURES 247,919.23 789,229 31.00% 4,946.87 883,391 1.00%

OUTGOING TRANSFERS

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & OUTGOING TRANSFERS 247,919.23 789,229 31.00% 4,946.87 883,391 1.00%

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES (          247,894.61) 47,071 2,739.07 (         75,441)



CITY OF HASTINGS

SUMMARY REVENUES  AND EXPENDITURES COMPARED TO BUDGET
FOR THE 1 MONTHS ENDING JULY 31, 2025

THIS YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD LAST YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD

FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF

31-JUL-25 2025-2026 BUDGET 31-JUL-24 2024-2025 BUDGET

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY 8 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED 08/21/2025     11:56AM

FUND 265 - DRUG ENFORCEMENT

REVENUES .00 0 0.00% 20.00 2,500 1.00%

INCOMING TRANSFERS

TOTAL REVENUE & INCOMING TRANSFERS .00 0 0.00% 20.00 2,500 1.00%

EXPENDITURES .00 5,000 0.00% .00 5,600 0.00%

OUTGOING TRANSFERS

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & OUTGOING TRANSFERS .00 5,000 0.00% .00 5,600 0.00%

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 (           5,000) 20.00 (           3,100)

FUND 266 - POLICE TRAINING

REVENUES .00 3,600 0.00% 17.06 3,400 1.00%

INCOMING TRANSFERS

TOTAL REVENUE & INCOMING TRANSFERS .00 3,600 0.00% 17.06 3,400 1.00%

EXPENDITURES .00 6,800 0.00% .00 4,900 0.00%

OUTGOING TRANSFERS

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & OUTGOING TRANSFERS .00 6,800 0.00% .00 4,900 0.00%

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES .00 (           3,200) 17.06 (           1,500)



CITY OF HASTINGS

SUMMARY REVENUES  AND EXPENDITURES COMPARED TO BUDGET
FOR THE 1 MONTHS ENDING JULY 31, 2025

THIS YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD LAST YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD

FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF

31-JUL-25 2025-2026 BUDGET 31-JUL-24 2024-2025 BUDGET

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY               8 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  08/21/2025     11:57AM

FUND 271 - LIBRARY FUND

OPERATIONS

OPERATING REVENUES 65,462.36 709,941 9.00% 37,487.53 673,516 6.00%

OPERATING INCOMING TRANSFERS

TOTAL OPERATING REV & IN TRNSFRS 65,462.36 709,941 9.00% 37,487.53 673,516 6.00%

OPERATING EXPENDITURES 53,229.55 713,969 7.00% 85,029.51 656,799 13.00%

OPERATING OUTGOING TRANSFERS

TOTAL OPERATING EXP & OUT TRNSFRS 53,229.55 713,969 7.00% 85,029.51 656,799 13.00%

NET OPERATING REV OVER EXP 12,232.81 (           4,028) (            47,541.98) 16,717

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS

CAP IMPRVMNT EXPENDITURES .00 0 0.00% .00 0 0.00%

CAP IMPRVMNT OUTGOING TRANSFERS

TOTAL CAP IMPRVMNT EXP & OUT TRNSFRS .00 0 0.00% .00 0 0.00%

NET CAP IMPRVMNT REV OVER EXP .00 0 .00 0



CITY OF HASTINGS

SUMMARY REVENUES  AND EXPENDITURES COMPARED TO BUDGET
FOR THE 1 MONTHS ENDING JULY 31, 2025

THIS YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD LAST YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD

FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF

31-JUL-25 2025-2026 BUDGET 31-JUL-24 2024-2025 BUDGET

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY               8 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  08/21/2025     11:57AM

FUND 592 - WATER & SEWER FUND

REVENUES 424,791.63 4,917,542 9.00% 396,366.02 4,900,690 8.00%

INCOMING TRANSFERS

TOTAL REVENUE & INCOMING TRANSFERS 424,791.63 4,917,542 9.00% 396,366.02 4,900,690 8.00%

EXPENDITURES 236,300.54 4,779,048 5.00% 208,608.45 4,632,941 5.00%

OUTGOING TRANSFERS .00 0 0.00% .00 0 0.00%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & OUTGOING TRANSFERS 236,300.54 4,779,048 5.00% 208,608.45 4,632,941 5.00%

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 188,491.09 138,494 187,757.57 267,749



CITY OF HASTINGS

SUMMARY REVENUES  AND EXPENDITURES COMPARED TO BUDGET
FOR THE 1 MONTHS ENDING JULY 31, 2025

THIS YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD LAST YEAR REVISED FISCAL YTD

FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF FISCAL YTD BUDGET % OF

31-JUL-25 2025-2026 BUDGET 31-JUL-24 2024-2025 BUDGET

FOR ADMINISTRATION USE ONLY               8 % OF THE FISCAL YEAR HAS ELAPSED  08/21/2025     11:58AM

FUND 661 - EQUIPMENT REVOLVING FUND

REVENUES 80,290.06 870,000 9.00% 51,835.92 908,000 6.00%

INCOMING TRANSFERS

TOTAL REVENUE & INCOMING TRANSFERS 80,290.06 870,000 9.00% 51,835.92 908,000 6.00%

EXPENDITURES 20,188.88 534,080 4.00% 42,566.71 626,963 7.00%

OUTGOING TRANSFERS

TOTAL EXPENDITURES & OUTGOING TRANSFERS 20,188.88 534,080 4.00% 42,566.71 626,963 7.00%

NET REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 60,101.18 335,920 9,269.21 281,037



1 

Hastings City Council 
Memorandum 

Date:             August 19, 2025 
To:    Honorable Mayor Tossava & Members of the Hastings City Council 
From:    Dan King, Community Development Director 
Subject:       August Community Development Department Report 

A summary of the current activities in the Community Development Department includes:            

Planning Commission 

The Planning Commission will be conducting a public hearing during the September 2, 2025, 
meeting to review and consider site plan and special use permit approval for the construction 
of a multi-bay auto service center at 1504 South Hanover. The proposed project is affiliated 
with Broadmoor Motors. The Planning Commission will also be conducting a preliminary site 
plan review for 420 E Mills PUD to include daycare as a permitted use as well as the 
reorientation of buildings to accommodate underground and overhead utilities. Both the use 
and the reorientation of the buildings are classified as a major change to the PUD. 

Downtown Development Authority Strategic Plan 

The DDA will be kicking off the development of a strategic plan on Thursday August 21st. 
Public engagement will be an integral component of the plan development process. Please 
feel free to share public engagement ideas with the Downtown Development Authority board. 

Hastings Business Connection 

The Downtown Business Team has rebranded and is now the Hastings Business Connection. 
Please check out their website at explorehastingsmi.com. 

12C



2 

 
 
 
 
DDA Façade Grant Program 
 
The DDA façade grant program funds exterior renovations for commercial buildings located in 
the DDA district. Funding up to $10,000 is available. The program requires a 50% matching 
contribution by the property/business owner. For more information, contact the Community 
Development Department. 
 

 
 
 
Upcoming Events 
 
Michigan Cyclocross September 14 
Barry Roubaix Fall Fondo October 12 
Youth Advisory Council Roof Sit October 18 
 
If you have any questions, concerns, or ideas please feel free to contact Sandy, Steve, or me 
at sponsetto@hastingsmi.gov shoke@hastingsmi.gov  dking@hastingsmi.gov  
 

 

                                  



12D







City of Hastings 
COUNTY OF BARRY, STATE OF MICHIGAN 

Riverside Cemetery Preservation Advisory Board Meeting Minutes 
August 13, 2025 

1. Call to Order: Meeting called to order at 3pm by Chairperson J Buehl

2. Roll Call: Present; Buehl, Tossava, Gettys, Perin.  Late: Watson arrived at 3:25pm
Absent: Coleman and Neil.

3. Pledge of Allegiance.

4. Approval of the Agenda.

Motion by Tossava and supported by Gettys to approve the Agenda for the Riverside
Cemetery Preservation Advisory Board for August 13, 2025.  All ayes, motion carried.

5. Approval of the Minutes of the meeting of June 11, 2025.

Motion by Tossava and supported by Perin to approve the minutes from June 11, 2025,
of the Riverside Cemetery Preservation Advisory Board meeting.  All ayes, motion
carried.

6. Public comment and communications.

None

7. Sexton Update

Josh was not present to give update. Note we need a quote for the fence repair on the
South side.

8. Unfinished Business.

A. Quote for Memorial Space Flagpole installation and new burial sections to seek
funding through BCF.

Motion by Tossava to approve the flagpole installation by Josh Wickham to be funded 
by the Barry Community Foundation Fund.  Supported by Gettys.  All ayes, motion 
passed. 

Motion by Tossava to approve the new burial section on the West side behind the 

13A



existing memorial space to be funded by the Barry Community Foundation Fund paid 
directly to Josh Wickham as long as no additional bids will need to be submitted per the 
City Manager.  Supported by Gettys.  All ayes, motion passed. 

B. Fence replacement-Status of quote.

Josh provided an estimate via text but we will need a formal quote to have
repairs done.

9. New Business

A. Barry Community Foundation (BCF) Funds Reports for June to July 2025.

B. City Cemetery Fund FY 25-26 Revenues and Expenditures through July 2025.

Motion by Tossava and supported by Perin to accept the financial reports as
presented.  All ayes, motion carried.

10. Board member comments.

Board has agreed to meet 3 times per year.  October, March and July starting on
October 8, 2025.

11. Public Comment.

None

12. Adjourn

Motion by Watson and supported by Gettys to adjourn meeting at 3:35 PM.  Next 
meeting will be October 8, 2025 

Guidelines for Public Comment 

Public Comment is welcomed and appreciated.  Please follow these simple guidelines to ensure all have 
an opportunity to be heard. 

All comments and questions will be made through the chair.  All comments will be made in a courteous 
and civil manner; profanity and personal attacks will not be tolerated.  Please limit the length of your 
comments to 3 minutes. If you are a member of a group, please appoint a spokesperson to speak on 
behalf of the group (those speaking on behalf of a group may be provided additional time).  Please 
state your name before offering comment. 



City of Hastings 

Downtown Development Authority 

DRAFT Meeting Minutes 

August 21, 2025 

1. Meeting Call to Order and Roll Call—

The meeting was called to order at 8: 00 a.m. by Woods 

Roll Call –  

Present: Albrecht, Baker, Button, Hatfield, Peterson, Schantz, Tossava, Wiswell, Woods 
Absent: 
City Staff and Appointees: Hoke, King, Ponsetto, Resseguie, Stenzelbarton 
Others Present: Mitch Foster and Torri Mathes (Double Haul Solutions) 

2. Pledge to the Flag

3. Approval/Additions/Deletions to Agenda –

Motion by Hatfield, second by Wiswell, to approve the agenda as presented. 

All ayes motion carried 

4. Approval of Minutes –

Motion by Wiswell, second by Hatfield, to approve the minutes of the July 17, 2025, DDA Meeting. 

All ayes motioned carried. 

5. Financial Statements & Budget for Review –

King said the budget has been updated through July 31, 2025. 

6. Façade and BEIG Update-

King said the façade grant spreadsheet has been updated through July 31, 2025. 

7. Open Public Comment and Discussion – None

8. Old Business- None

13B



 9. New Business 

A.  Strategic Plan Presentation by Double Haul Solutions 

Foster and Mathes from Double Haul Solutions gave a presentation and got feedback from the DDA Board 

about the DDA Strategic Plan. 

B. Façade Grant Reimbursement for Razor’s Edge, 112 E. Court St. 

King said the work has been completed and is subject to reimbursement. 

C. Façade Grant Reimbursement for Troy Dalman, 128 W. Mill St. 

King said the work has been completed and is subject to reimbursement. 

10.  DDA Member Comment –  

Woods said Welton Media has been hired to create new video content for the DDA and is expected to start 

this weekend. 

King said city staff met with MDOT and reconstruction of W. State Street between Broadway and Cook Road 

is scheduled for 2028. MDOT will reconstruct with existing conditions. Public input will help determine traffic 

calming enhancements and/or lane reduction. 

King also gave an update on the potential of a Meijer in Rutland Township and progress on Riverwalk Lofts on 

Mill Street. 

11.  Open Public Comment and Discussion – None 

12.  Adjournment 

Motion by Hatfield, second by Baker, to adjourn. 

All ayes motion carried. 

Meeting adjourned at 10:13 a.m. 

 

 

_______________________                                         ____________________________ 

 Patty Woods, Chair                                                          Deb Button, Secretary 

 

Prepared by: Sandra Ponsetto, City of Hastings 


	Council Packet 2025 08 25.pdf
	0_Exec Summary 2025 08 25.pdf
	5_Minutes 2025 08 11.pdf
	6.A_Michigan Community Block Grant (CDBG) Funding.pdf
	6.A_Memo- Public Hearing 08.25.pdf
	6.A1_Public Hearing Notice.pdf

	9.A_Softball Field Reservation Request.pdf
	10.A_Resolution 2025-23 - Water Tower Easement.pdf
	10.A_Water Tower Easement.pdf
	10.A1_Resolution 2025-23.pdf
	10.A2_Purchase and Sale Agreement.pdf

	10.B_Fire Department Bathroom Remodel.pdf
	10.B_Fire Department Remodel.pdf
	10.B1_HASTINGS_FD_25REMOD_CUSTOMER_TOTAL_AMOUNT_CON.pdf
	Coversheet
	Line Item Detail
	Line Item Detail
	Line Item Detail


	10.B2_Sealed Bid Opening Form fillable.pdf
	Sealed Bid Opening Results


	10.C_Truck 13 Replacement.pdf
	10.C_Truck 130 Replacement Memo.pdf
	10.C1_#130 memo packet.pdf
	10.C2_130 photos.pdf

	10.D_2025 Street Chip Sealing Bid Award.pdf
	10.D_Chipsealing 2025.pdf
	10.D1_2025 map and quote.pdf

	10.E_Lead Line Replacement - Plumbing Contract FY 25.pdf
	10.E_Plumbing Contract.pdf
	10.E1_Advantage Plumbing Bid.pdf
	10.E2_2025-08002 Lead Line Replacement bid tab.pdf
	Sealed Bid Opening Results


	10.F_MOU Ambulance Service.pdf
	10.F_Ambulance MOU.pdf
	10.F1_Draft MOU Ambulance.pdf
	10.F2_Hastings Ambulance Contract_expires 01_01_2027.pdf

	11.A_Assistant City Manager.pdf
	11.A_Assistant City Manager Memo.pdf
	11.A1_Description Assistant City Manager.pdf

	12.A_Hastings Police July 2025 Monthly Report.pdf
	12.A_HPD July 2025 Report.pdf
	12.A1_PD Monthly Report July 2025.pdf
	12.A2_July 2025 CCO Monthly Report.pdf

	12.B_07-31-25 Financial Statements.pdf
	Investment Report 07-31-25
	07-31-25 F101 General Fund
	07-31-25 F202 F203 Streets
	07-31-25 F209 Cemetery
	07-31-25 F243 BRA
	07-31-25 F248 DDA
	07-31-25 F265 F266 Drug Enforcement-Police Training
	07-31-25 F271 Library
	07-31-25 F592 Water-Sewer
	07-31-25 F661 Equipment

	12.C_08.25 CD Report.pdf
	12.D_July 2025 Monthly Report.pdf
	13.A_Cemetery Board Minutes - August 13, 2025.pdf

	4_Agenda 2025 08 25.pdf
	13.B_DDA DRAFT Minutes - August 21, 2025.pdf

	COUNTY OF BARRY STATE OF MICHIGAN: 
	Procurement Number: 2025-08001
	Bid Name: Fire Department Bathroom Remodel
	Opening Date  Time: August 13, 2025 @ 10AM
	Name: All Call Restoration
	Amount: 24,432.57
	Name_2: Shamrock Development
	Amount_2: 63,338.00
	Name_3: 
	Amount_3: 
	Name_4: 
	Amount_4: 
	Name_5: 
	Amount_5: 
	Name_6: 
	Amount_6: 
	Name_7: 
	Amount_7: 
	Name_8: 
	Amount_8: 
	Name_9: 
	Amount_9: 
	Opening 1: Davis, Jordan, Perin, Hubbell
	Opening 2: No Venders Present
	1: 
	2: 
	Bid Granted to: 
	PO: 
	ISSUED TO: 
	ON: 
	Process Final Sign Off By: 
	ON_2: 


